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Current procurement methods include paper requests for proposals, sourcing prices
through phone brokers and bid-ask exchangas. We believe that these methods generally
lack the controls, competition and transparency needed to produce the best price. They
are also time-and labor-intensive, leaving organizations vulnerable to changing market
conditions and enabling suppliers and intermediaries to extract excessive margins from

the process.

Enter World Energy.
We bring market participants together to create an information-rich marketplace that

enhances liquidily and transparency, yielding efficient pricing. As one supplier has said:

“The World Energy Exchange is brutally
efficient at ariving margins o the dare
minimum.”
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¢ Our broad marketplace 1s
: supported by a netwark of
: more than 300 bidders and
over 40 channei partners

World Energy's automated, web-based auction
platform provides efficiency and flexibility in

the procurement of energy and environmental
commaodities. We use online auctions to derive

a highly competitive price, support compliance,
and complete transactions quickly, cost-effectively,
and with reduced risk, We also support our
platform with deep market expertise, a rigorous
end-to-end process, and strong data management
capabilities.

D We Mave ¢ naw o d oue onergy
customers o save up o 307 an
the rourchines 3y Pavooo sLnn ets
: - : ¢ With more than 11,000 events

¢ and $10 billion in completed
o : transactions, our technology
platform is highly robust.

Fan
A\

“Tne auction far exceeded our expectations. Initially we were skeptical as

to whether an auction wouid work, since the market for carbon offsets

and emissions reductions is still emerging. World Energy certainly delivered.
They gave us a real-time view into pricing, vetted the bidders. set up the
transaction, and ultimately delivered significant revenue to cur bottom line.”
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In the past several years, we have built the World Energy Exchange into a leading online platform for
retail energy transactions. We enhanced our platform in 2007 with the acquisition of EnergyGateway,
a leader in natural gas procurement, and added capabilities for wholesale transactions.

At the end of 2007, we launched the World Green Exchange to position us as a leader in the evalving
environmental markets both in the U.S. and internationally.

A strong foundation in three product lines provides revenue diversification, a significantly expanded
total market opportunity and multiple growth drivers for our business.
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Achieved strategic objectives outlined
at the time of our initial public offering
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Letter to Shareholders

Overall, 2007 was a successful first year as a public company for World
Energy Solutions as we delivered on the strategic objectives we articulater
during our public offering. In doing so, we made significant progress in each
of our three markets - retail, wholesale and environmental — and laid a strong
foundation for future growth. |

World Energy’s key value proposition is bringing transparen?y
and liquidity to opaque and illiquid markets. Our goal has always been to
become the pre-eminent exchange for executing transactions in energy
and environmental commeodities. To achieve this goal, we said we would
accelerate the growth of our base retail energy business, apply our auction
and structured event process to new markets and evaluate strategic
acquisitions to complement our organic growth strategies. Fisca! 2007 se{w
us make progress with each of these objectives.

One of the main highlights of 2007 was the completion of our first
strategic acquisition - EnergyGateway, a leader in natural gas electronic
procurement. This business was integrated smoothly and quickly, adding
important technology, talent and relationships that are helping us accelera‘te
growth in our retail product line.

We also planned to develop a wholesale product line, and last year
we made significant progress in this area. We built a team solely dedicated
to pursuing this market and they have grown sales and our client base
aggressively. From 2 clients pre-IPQ, we've grown to 12, accounting for 20'%
of our revenue in the fourth quarter (as opposed to 6% in the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2008). This early success indicates that there is a sizable opportunity
well suited to our platform, |

Finally, we made major strides in the green credit marketplace in 2007
with the development of the World Green Exchange and the completion|of
several highly successful, pioneering transactions. These auctions delivered
great results for clients and further strengthened our growing resumé|in
environmental commaodity markets.

To deliver on these strategies and drive future growth, we
made significant planned investments to build a top-quality team
and the infrastructure to support them, which are reflected in our
operating loss for the year. In total, we added 43 new people in 2007,
18 of whom were acquired with the EnergyGateway transaction.
With this major investment period behind us, we believe we have the
infrastructure to execute on our growth plans and support substantially
higher business levels.




For fiscal 2007, revenue increased by 59% to $9.2 million, which
reflects increased auction activity in multiple product lines, new customer
wins and the acquisition of the assets of EnergyGateway. Total operating
expenses for the year were $14.5 million, compared with $5.1 million in
2006. The year-over-year change primarily reflects growth in our employee
base, which tripled to 63 employees at year end as compared to 20 at the
end of 2006, as well as increased compliance costs related to being a public
company. While we expect to add resources selectively, we believe the core
team is in place to execute our organic growth plans and drive higher sales.
Net loss for 2007 was $8.6 million, or {$0.11} per share, compared with a net
loss of $501,000, or ($0.01) per share, in 2006.

Fiscal 2008 stands to be another exciting growth year as we continue to
execute on our key strategic initiatives.

In our core retail energy market, we will continue to grow our
commercial and industrial business, expand our channel partner network, and
extend our lead in state and local governments. In the promising wholesale
market, we intend to build on the momentum we generated last year, with new
utility customers and more repeat business.

In the dynamic environmental commodities area, we expect there to
be exciting opportunities and transactions this year that provide opportunities
for us to solidify our market position. Subsequent to year end we announced
that we were selected by the Regicnal Greenhouse Gas Initiative, Inc. to
provide services related to the design and implementation of a regional
allowance auction, subject to contract negotiation. This represented a
major milestone for our arganization, validating our capabilities in this high-
potential market and the value of auctions as an allocation methodology. We
expect significant ancillary benefits from this award in 2008 and beyond.

In summary, we believe we have the right strategy and the right team
to take advantage of substantial market opportunities for our technology and
core skill set.

We look forward to reporting on our pregress during the year.
Sincerely,

oo

Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer




STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The Company’s Common Stock is listed for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “XWE”.
The Stock Price Performance Graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return of the Company’s
Common Stock for the period from November 16, 2006 through December 31, 2007, with the cumulative total return
of the S&P/TSX Composite Index and the NASDAQ Computer Index over the same period. The cc:)mparison assumes
CDN3$100 was invested on November 16, 2006 in the Company’s Common Stock, in the S&P/TSX Composite Index
and in the NASDAQ Computer Index and assumes reinvestment of dividends, if any.
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—eo— World Energy Solutions, Inc.

Nov. 16, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sep.! 30, Dec. 31,

2006 2006 2007 2007 2007 2007

World Energy Solutions, Inc. 100.00 109.52 95.24 147.62 10:?.81 76.19
S8P/TSX Composite Index 100.00 104.39 106.47 112.46 114.01 111.87
NASDAQ Computer Index 100.00 97.28 96.69 106.50 11.’|£.17 118.54

The stock price performance shown on the graph above is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.
Information used in the graph was obtained from the Toronto Stock Exchange and The NASDAQ Stock Market,
sources believed to be reliable, but the Company is not responsible for any errors or omissions in such information.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which
statements involve risks and uncertainties. These statements relate ro our future plans, objectives, expectanans and mrennons
These statements muy be identified by the use of words such as "may”, “could”, “would”, “should"l “will ", “expects”,
“anticipates ", “intends", “plans”, “believes”, “estimates” and similar expressions. Our acrual results and timing of certain
events could differ materially from those discussed in these statements. Factors that could contribute to these differences include
but are not limited to, those discussed under “Risk Factors”, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of \Financial Condition
and Results of Operations ", and elsewhere in this Report. The cautionary statements made in this Report should be read as being

applicable to all forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this Report.




PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview

World Energy Solutions, Inc. is an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has developed online
auction platforms, the World Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange. On the World Energy Exchange, energy
consumers in the United States are able to negotiate for the purchase or sale of electricity and other energy resources from
competing energy suppliers which have agreed to participate on our auction platform in a given auction. On the World Green
Exchange, buyers and sellers negotiate for the purchase or sale of environmental commoditics such as Renewable Energy
Certificates, Verified Emissions Reductions and Certified Emissions Reductions.

World Energy was founded in response to the restructuring of the electricity industry in some U.S. states, which are
increasingly permitting energy consumers to choose their etectricity supplier. While our core competency has been brokering
clectricity, we adapted our World Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate the brokering of natural gas in 2002 and
green power in 2003 (i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources). In 2005, we expanded the platform to handle wholesale
transactions, In 2007, we created the World Green Exchange based on the World Energy Exchange technology and business
process.

Since 2001, we have brokered over 40 billion kilowatt hours of electricity for energy consumers in North America. We believe
that we are among the pioneering companies brokering electricity online and we are not aware of any third-party competitor
brokering more electricity online than we do. With our acquisition of substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway, LLC, or
EnergyGateway, in June of 2007, we have brokered over 1 trillion decatherms of natural gas.

In the United States, the electricity and natural gas industry restructuring that has permitted energy consumers a choice of
supplier has taken place on a state-by-state basis. This development presents energy consumers with a number of challenges
because they generally lack the expertise, cxperience and information necessary to effectively source energy from competitive
energy suppliers. We provide energy consumers that choose to switch to a competitive energy supplier with a comprehensive
energy procurement solution that is designed to ensure that they receive market-based pricing terms. To date we have focused on
commercial, industrial and government, or CiG, energy consumers in the retail market.

Qur expansion into the wholesale encrgy market was a natural outgrowth of our services 1o the retail energy markets. We apply
the same tools and processes utilized within the retail electricity and natural gas markets to transactions between utilities,
electricity retailers or intermediaries as buyers and energy suppliers or other intermediaries as sellers.

The environmental commeodity market also has similar characteristics to the retail energy markets — lack of liquidity, lack of
price transparency and differentiated products — creating an opportunity for the further deployment of our technology. Customers
can be either buyers or sellers of environmental commedities including US CIG customers, utilities, independent power
producers, project developers and environmental brokers.

The Retail Energy Industry
Retail Electricity Deregulation

The electricity industry in the United States is governed by both federal and state laws and regulations, with the federal
government having jurisdiction over the sale and transmission of electricity at the wholesale level in interstate commerce, and the
states having jurisdiction over the sale and distribution of electricity at the retail level.

The federal government regulates the electricity wholesale and transmission business through the Federal Encrgy Regulatory
Commission, or FERC, which draws its jurisdiction from the Federal Power Act, and [rom other legislation such as the Public
Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, the Energy Policy Act of 1992, or EPA 1992, and the recently enacted Energy Policy Act
of 2005. FERC has comprehensive and plenary jurisdiction over the rates and terms for sales of power at wholesale, and over the
organization, governance and financing of the companies engaged in such sales. States regulate the sale of electricity at the retail
level within their respective jurisdictions, in accordance with individual state laws which can vary widely in material respects.
Restructuring of the retail electricity industry in the United States began in the mid-1990s, when certain state legislatures
restructured their electricity markets to create competitive markets that enable energy consumers to purchase clectricity from
competitive energy suppliers.

Prior 1o the restructuring of the retail electricity industry, the electricity market structure in the United States consisted of
vertically integrated utilities which had a near monopoly over the generation, transmission and distribution of electricity to retail
energy consumers. In states that have embraced electricity restructuring, the generation component (i.e., the source of the
electricity) has become more competitive while the energy delivery functions of transmission and distribution remain as
monopoly services provided by the incumbent local utility and subject to comprehensive rate regulation. In other words, in these




states, certain retail energy consumers (specifically, those served by investor-owned utilities and not| by municipal power
companies or rural power cooperatives) can choose their electricity supplier but must still rely upon their local utility to deliver
that electricity to their home or place of business.

The structure and, ultimately, the success level of industry restructuring has been determined on a state by state basis. There
have been three general models for clectricity industry restructuring: (i) delayed competition, (n)phased in competition, and
(11} full competition. The delayed competition medel consists of the state passing legislation authonzllng competitive retail
electricity markets (i.e., customer choice of electric energy supplier), however, no action is taken by the state regulatory authority
charged with utility industry oversight within such state to change the incumbent utility rates for eleclrlc energy to encourage
competition. The phased-in competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing compemwe retail electricity
markets together with a gradual change of the incumbent local utility’s retail electric rates to encourage the competitive supply of
electricity over time. The full competition model consists of the state passing legislation authorizing competitive retail electricity
markets together with an immediate change to the incumbent local utilities® retail electric rates that restlts in the whole CIG
electricity market in such state being competitive immediately.

Energy consumcrs who choose to switch electricity suppliers can either do it themselves by contactirrg competitive energy
suppliers directly, or indirectly, by engaging aggregators, brokers or consultants, collectively referred to as ABCs, to assist them
with their electricity procurement.

Competitive Energy Suppliers: These entities take title to power and resell it directly to energy consumers. These are typically
well-funded entities, which both service energy consumers and also work with ABCs to contract with energy consumers.
Presently, we estimate there are over 40 competitive suppliers several of which operate on a national leve) and are registered in
nearly all of the 14 states and the District of Columbia that permit CIG energy consumers to choose their electncny supplier and
have deregulated pricing to create competitive markets. Of the 14 deregulated states, 10 have viable competmve markets,

Aggregators, Brokers and Consultants: ABCs facilitate transactions by having competitive energy suppliers compete against
each other in an effort to get their energy customers the lowest price. This group generally uses manual rcqucsl for proposal, or
RFP, processes that are labor intenstve, relying on phone, fax and email solicitations. We believe that the lonline RFP process is
superior to the traditional paper based RFP process as it involves a larger number of energy suppliers, can Faccommodatc., a larger
number of bids within a shorter time span, and allows for a larger amount of contract vanations including vartous year terms,
territories and energy usage patterns.

Online Brokers: Online brokers are a subset of the ABCs. These entities use online platforms to run electronic RFP processes
in an effort to secure the lowest prices for their energy customers by having competitors bid against one another. We believe that
we are among the pioncering companies brokering electricity online and we are not aware of any competitor that has brokered
more electricity online than we have.

Retail Natural Gas

The natural gas industry in the United States is governed by both federal and state laws and regulatlons with the federal
government having jurisdiction over the transmission of natural gas in interstate commerce, and the states havmg Jjurisdiction over
the sale and distribution at the retail level. i

The federal government regulates the natural gas transmission business through FERC which draws it$ jurisdiction from the
Natural Gas Act, and from other legistation such as the recently enacted Energy Policy Act of 2005. FERC has comprehensive
and plenary jurisdiction over the rates and terms for transmission of gas in interstate commerce, and over the organization,
governance and financing of the companies engaged in such transmission. States regulate the distribution|and sale of gas at the
retail level within their respective jurisdictions, in accordance with individual state laws which can vary widely in material
respects.

The natural gas market in the United States is deregulated in most states and offers retail energy consumers access to their
choice of natural gas commodity supplier.

Following a period of heavy regulation, the gas industry was deregulated in three phases as a result of legislation enacted in
1978 followed by multiple orders of FERC, The expected result of this deregulation was to stimulate competition in the natural
gas industry down the pipeline to the distribution level.

At the retail level, reforms and restructuring have taken place on a state by state basis, with varying nuances to the restructuring
in different states. For example, state commissions have allowed local distribution companies to offer unbundled transportation
service to large customers; occasionally to provide flexible pricing in competitive markets; and 10 engage in other competitive
activities.

Today, we estimate that utilities in over 40 states permit retail natural gas consumers to choose their natural gas commodity
suppliers. In most instances, the incumbent local distribution utility still delivers the commodity to the consumers’ premises, even




if a different supplier is selected 1o provide the commodity. The level of competitive choice available to retail CIG energy
consumers has increased, with a wide range of products and a significant number of suppliers participating in both retail and
wholesale transactions.

Wholesale Energy

The wholesale electricity market is the competitive market that connects generators (sellers) with utilities, electricity retailers
and intermediaries (buyers) who purchase electricity to re-sell on the retatl market. Total wholesale purchases of electric power in
2006 totaled 5.5 billion MWh. Natural gas is an important input fuel for generators, and purchases of natural gas in 2006 totaled
6 trillion cubic feet.

The U.S. wholesale electricity market emerged in the late 1970°s when independent power producers, or IPPs, and other non-
utilities entered the electricity generation market, although the market was restricted until the early 1990s when competitive
constraints were removed. These new generation entities began to compete directly with traditional utilities and offered customers
more than one choice to obtain electricity. Today, participants in the wholesale market include IPPs, traditional utilities, and
intermediary power marketers. In addition, banks, traders, and brokers participate in the wholesale market.

IPPs and traditional utilities comprise the generation portion of the wholesale market. Many employ internal sales forces to
assist in the sale and distribution of their power, enabling them to participate as both buyers and sellers within the wholesale
market. However, a growing number of IPPs and utilities have found it easier and more cost effective to sell their generation
through power marketing services, which has contributed to the power marketers’ increased role within the market. Power
marketers utilize several different platforms to purchase power from generators for distribution, which include paper RFPs, phone
brokerage, electronic exchanges and auctions.

Qur customers in the wholesale market can be either buyers or sellers and can include utilities and municipal utilities that buy
power to fill in gaps in their porifolios or natural gas to consume in their generation facilities, and retail marketers who buy natural
gas and power to resell to retail customers. [ the customer is a buyer, we will run a reverse (descending price) auction to secure a
low price. If the customer is a seller, we will run a forward (ascending price} auction to secure a higher price.

Environmental Commodities

Concerns about giobal warming have spawned a number of initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The most widely
adopted of these initiatives is the Kyoto Protocol pursuant to which many countries in Europe, Asia and elsewhere have created
carbon cap and trade systems. While the United States has not adopted the Kyoto Protocol at a federal level, there are a number of
initiatives in the U.S. at the regional, state and local level aimed at limiting greenhouse gas emissions including the Regional
Greenhouse Gas [nitiative - a collaboration of 10 Northeastern states, and renewable portfolio standards - initiatives adopted by
over 25 states and the District of Columbia regarding the minimum requirements mandated to utilities to derive power from
renewable sources.

These initiatives and mandates are spurring investments in renewable energy, carbon efficiency and recovery processes to
create credits that can be traded 1o countries or companies seeking to get beneath mandated carbon emission limits. Thus far, these
credits are being traded privately or via exchanges (such as the European Climate Exchange, Evomarkets, and the Chicago
Climate Exchange) that have been formed to take advantage of these opportunities, although we believe that a structured auction
event may be a more efficient mechanism for transacting these credits.

Our customers in the exchange of environmental commodities can be either buyers or sellers and include US CIG customers
seeking to buy renewable energy to voluntarily “green™ their energy portfolio, utilities seeking to meet mandated renewable
portfolio standards, independent power producers looking to sell renewable energy, project developers interested in selling carbon
offsets, entities that must meet compliance requirements and need to purchase carbon offsets, and environmental commodity
brokers. If the customer is a buyer, we will run a reverse (descending price) auction to secure a lower price. If the customer is a
seller, we will run a forward (ascending price) auction 1o secure a higher price.

Company Strategy and Operations

Overview

We are an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has developed online auction platforms, the World
Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange. On the World Energy Exchange energy consumers in the US are able to
negotiate for the purchase or sale of electricity and other energy resources from competing energy suppliers which have agreed to
participate on our auction platform in a given auction. On the World Green Exchange, buyers and sellers negotiate for the
purchase or sale of environmental commodities such as Renewable Energy Centificates, Verified Emissions Reductions and
Certified Emissions Reductions.




We bring suppliers and consumers together in our virtual marketplaces, often with the assistance of our;channel partners, who
identify and work with customers to consummate transactions. Our exchanges are comprised of a series of software modules that
automate our comprehensive procurement process including:

« energy and environmental commodities sourcing management — a database of suppliers and contacts;

+ lead management — a module to track prospective customers through the sales process;

* deal and task inanagement — a module to list, assign and track steps to complete a procurement successfully;

» market intclligence — databases of information related to market rules and pricing trends for markets;

« request for proposal, or RFP, development — a module to create RFPs with a variety of terms and parameters;

* conducting auctions — underlying sofiware to manage the bidding and timing of an auction and display the results;

« portfolio management — a database of contracts, sites, accounts and usage;

« commission reporting — a system to display forecasted and actual commissions due to channel partners; and

* receivables management — a system to upload data received from suppliers and track payment receipt.

Our technology-based solution is attractive to channel partners as it provides them with a business automation platform to
enhance their growth, profitability and customer satisfaction. Channel partners are important to our busmess because these entities
offer our auction platforms to enhance their service offerings to their customers. By accessing our market mtelllgence and
automated auction platform, channel partners significantly contribute to our transaction volume, and in return we pay them a fixed
percentage of the revenue we receive {rom winning bidders (i.e. energy suppliers and other buyers). This third party commission
structure is negotiated in advance within the channel partner agreement based on a number of factors, including expected volume,
effort required in the auction process and competitive factors.

As a requirement to bid in an auction (which is described in greater detail below), bidders must agree to an on-line agreement
to pay our fee if they execute a contract as a result of the auction. Following an auction event, our employees continue to work
with the energy consumer and other listers or collectively, the customer, and bidder through the contract negotiation process and,
accordingly, we are aware of whether a contract between the customer and bidder is consummated. If a contract is entered into
between a customer and bidder using our auction platforms, we are compensated based upon a fixed fee, or commission, that is
built into the price of the commodity. This approach is attractive to both the customer and bidder as there is no fee charged to
either party if the brokering process does not result in a contract. Our fees are based on the total amount of the commodity
transacted between the customer and bidder multiplied by our contractual commission rate, and is set| forth in two contracts
between us and the bidder. The first agreement is a master agreement, whereby bidders are allowed to bid on customer
requirements in exchange for agreeing to pay the fee that we have negotiated with the customer, and the sccond is a fee addendum
to the contract between the bidder and us that sets forth the fee and products to which the fee applies. In addition, bidders are
required to acknowledge and agree to our fee on our online platform prior to participating in any specific auction.

Retail Electricity Transactions

For retail electricity transactions, monthly revenue is based on actual usage daia obtained from the energy supplier for a given
month or, to the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity delwered to the energy
consumer for that month. While the number of contracts closed via the World Energy Exchange in any yven period can fluctuate
widely due to a number of factors, this revenue recognition method provides for a relatively predictable revenue stream, as
revenue is based on the energy consumers’ actual historical energy usage profile. However, monthly revenue can still vary from
our expectations because usage is affected by a number of variables which cannot always be accurately predicted, such as the
weather and general business conditions affecting our energy consumers.

Contracts between energy consumers and energy suppliers are signed for a variety of term lengths, with a one year contract
term being typical for commercial and industrial energy consumers, and government contracts typically havmg two to three vear,
and occasionally five year terms. The chart below displays our annualized backlog as at year-end fram 2003 through 2007,
Annualized backlog represents the revenue that we would derive within the twelve months fol]owmgithe date on which the
backlog is calculated from contracts between energy consumers and energy suppliers that are in force on such date, assuming such
cnergy consumers use energy at their historical usage levels. For any particular contract, annualized b'acklog is calculated by
multiplying the energy consumer’s historical usage by our fixed contractual commission rate. This metnc is not intended as an
estimate of overall future revenues, since it does not purport to include revenues that may be earned durmg the relevant 12 month
backlog period from new contracts or renewals of contracts that expire during such period. In addition, annualized backlog does
not represent guaranteed future revenues, and to the extent actual usage under a particular contract varics from historical usage,
our revenues under such contract will differ from the amount included in annualized backlog.




In addition 1o retail electricity contracts, we have ongoing contractual arrangements with retail naturai gas customers under
which we deliver certain risk management services for which we receive a monthly fee. Annualized backlog as at December 31,
2007 includes monthly management fees related to natural gas contracts of $1.4 million that have expected revenue associated
with them from January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008. These contracts may expire during the period and therefore the
annualized backlog does not include any revenue from expected contract renewals,

Annualized Backlog
(in millions)

$7.6

$3.9

$3.6

$2.6

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Because the calculation of backlog is a calculation of a contracted commission rate multiplied by a historical energy
usage figure and our management contracts are cancelable by our natural gas customers, our annualized backlog may not
necessarily be indicative of future results. Annualized backlog should not be viewed in isolation or as a substitute for our
historical revenues presented in the financial statements included in this Form 10-K. Events that may cause future revenues
from contracts in force to differ materially from our annualized backlog include the events that may affect energy usage,
such as overall business activity levels, changes in energy consumers’ businesses, weather patterns and other factors
described under “Risk Factors™.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees.
Transaction fees are billed to and paid by the supplier awarded business on the platform. Transaction fees for natural gas
awards are established prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our natural gas transactions,
we bill the supplier upon the conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire
award term multiplied by the transaction fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are generaily billed
on a monthly basis for services rendered based on terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While
substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are accounted in accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is
accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and recognized as revenue in accordance with the retail
electricity transaction revenue recognition methodelogy described above.

Wholesale and Green Transactions

For wholesale energy and environmental commodity transactions, substantially all transaction fees are invoiced upon the
conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to future energy usage and are recognized upon
the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid for a consumer’s business, the fees are
paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy or credits, the fees are typically paid by the lister. In




addition, revenue may not be recognized on certain green transactions until the credits being auctioned have been verified.
While substantially all wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small pellcentage of wholesale
transactions is accounted for as the electricity or gas is delivered, similar to the retail electricity transaction methodology
described above,

The Brokerage Process

Qur brokerage process is supported by a variety of software modules designed with the goal to find the best possible price
while providing step-by-step process management and detailed documentation prior to, during and follo'wing the auction. Qur
process includes data collection and analysis, establishing the benchmark price, conducting multiple auction events to enable
testing of various term and price combinations and assisting in contract completion. We create an audit trail of all the steps taken
in a given transaction. Specific web pages track all information provided to energy suppliers including|energy supplier calls,
supplier invitations, usage profiles and desired contract parameters.

At the commencement of the process, non-government energy consumers will enter into a procurement services agreement
with us pursuant to which we are appointed as the brokerage service provider to solicit and obtain bids for the supply of energy or
environmental commodities and to assist in the procurement of these commodities. Government energy consumers will send out a
solicitation at the commencement of the brokerage process which sets out the contract terms. Only bidders that are qualified under
the solicitation may participate in the auction. Bidders who wish to bid on the provision of energy or environmental commodities
to such customers must partake in our brokerage process and cannot contract with customers outside of our brokerage process.

For retail energy, the procurement services agreement authorizes us to retrieve the energy consumer’s energy usage history
from the utility serving its accounts. We utilize the usage history to identify and analyze the energy consumer’s energy needs and
1o run a rate and tariff model which calculates the utility rate for that energy consumer’s facilities. This price is used as a
benchmark price to beat for the auction event, For other customers or commadities, the benchmark price may be negotiated or
calculated in another manner.

Prior to conducting the auction, the auction parameters, including targel price, supplier preferences, comract terms, payment
terms and product mix, as applicable, are discussed with the customer and agreed upon, Approximately mo to five days prior to
the auction, we will post RFP’s with these auction parameters on our World Energy Exchange or World Green Exchange and alert
the potential bidders. Additionally, bidders are provided with information about the customer, historical en:ergy usage information
relating to the energy consumer’s facilities (if retail customers), and the desired contract parameters, scvcral days in advance of
the auction as part of the RFP. This advanced notice gives the bidders the opportunity to analyze the valuelof a potential deal and
the creditworthiness of the customer. We believe that, using this information along with the auction parameters described in the
RFP, the bidders develop a bidding strategy for the auction.

The aucticn is run on the World Energy Exchange or the World Green Exchange, depending on the commodity auctioned. The
auction creales a compelitive bidding environment that is designed to cause bidders 1o deliver better prices in response to other
competitive bids. Specifically, bidders enter an auction by submitting an opening bid at or better than the|suggested opening bid
posted on the RFP, Afier they enter the auction and assess the bidding activity, bidders may begin testing the competition by
submitting a bid better than the then leading bid. They do this presumably to test their pricing and to gauge the relative level of
competition for the deal, There is typically a modest level of bidding and counter-bidding activity among blddCI‘S until the final 30
seconds of the auction when bidding activity tends to increase. In the final seconds, all bidders see the theh- leading bid and must

make a judgment as to how aggressively to submit their last bid in order to win the deal. At this point in thé auction, bidders make
their final bid without knowledge of what any other bidders are bidding. We call this a final “blind™ bid. JBecause a bidder does
not know what the other bidders will bid in their blind bid, this process has ofien resulted in the leading bidder outbidding itself at
the moment before the auction closes in an effort to maintain its lead position and win the auction event.

Typically, a number of auctions tailored to the customer’s specific needs will be held. Our exchanges provide rapid results and
can accommodate a multitude of permutations for offers, including various year terms, quantities, load factors and green power
requirements. For commercial and industrial customers or project owners, we typically run two to Six auction events per
procurement and for large government aggregations that generally are more complex, we typically run 20 to 40 auction events.
Each auction event usuaily lasts less than 15 minutes. Included as part of any auction transaction are date and time stamping of
bids, comparison of each bid with benchmark prices, as well as autemated stop times, which ensure the mte;:,nty of auction events.
The exchanges are also periodically synchronized to the atomic clock which is intended to ensure that auction start and stop times

are pI’ECISﬂ.

Following an auction, the auction results are analyzed and if the auction has been successful, we assist the customer with the
contracting process with the winning bidder which is typically finalized within one hour of the closing  of the last auction event. In
the case of a commercial energy consumer, we facilitate any remaining discussion between the leading energy supplier and the
energy consumer relating to the energy supplier's contract terms that were not addressed in establishing the auction parameters, In
the case of government energy consumers, the energy suppliers have seen and, in general, have ag,reed to the form of supply
contract being required by the government energy consumer. Accordingly, the time period between the end of the auctien and the
execution of a contract is usually shotter than in.the case of non-government energy consumers. Not all auttions result in awarded
contracts.




As part of the contracting process between the successful bidder and the customer, the bidder will enter into a fee addendum
with us which provides for payment of a commission. For electricity contracts, we have historically received a commission
ranging generally from $0.00005 to $0.00235 per kilowatt hour consumed by the energy consumer. For natural gas contracts, we
have historically received a commission ranging generally from $0.01 to $0.10 per decatherm of gas consumed by the energy
consumer. For wholesale transactions, we have historically received a commission ranging generally from $0.10 - $0.25 per
megawatt hour and $0.01 to $0.10 per decatherm of gas. For environmental commodity transactions, we have historically received
a commission ranging generally from $0.10 - $0.25 per unit. If a channel partner was involved, the channel partner will receive a
commission based on a fee sharing arrangement it has negotiated with us in the applicable channel partner agreement.

For retail energy transactions, the incumbent local utility serving a given location is typically obligated to deliver the
commedity to the customer’s premises from the location where the supplier delivers electricity energy into that local utility’s
delivery system. However, the energy supplier is responsible for enrolling the energy consumer’s account with the applicable
local utility and the energy supplier remains liable for any costs resulting from the physical loss of energy during transmission and
delivery 1o the customer’s premises. We never buy, sell or take title to the energy products or environmental commodities on our
auction platform.

We typically interface directly with the customer through the brokerage process. However, if a channel partner is involved, the
channel partner will often perform one or more of the following functions: working with a customer to sign a procurement
services agreement, interacting with the customer relating to World Energy analyses, supporting the decision-making, and
interfacing with the custorner during the contracting process. However, even if a channel partner is involved, we are still primarily
responsible for tasks such as interacting with utilities to obtain an energy consumer’s usage history, performing analyses, creating
RFPs, interfacing with bidders, and scheduling, conducting and monitoring auctions and collecting the commission earned from
the bidder.

Growth Strategy

Our overall objective is to achieve a preeminent position as the exchange of choice for executing transactions in energy and
environmental commodities. We seek to achieve our objective by expanding our community of channel partners, customers and
bidders on our exchange, strengthening and expanding long-term relationships with government agencies, broadening our product
offerings, making strategic acquisitions, and growing our sales force. Key elements of our strategy are as follows:

Continuing to Develop Channel Parter Relationships. A significant majority of the customers using our auction platforms
have been introduced to us through our channel partners. Our primary growth strategy is to focus on developing and increasing
our number of channel partner relationships in an effort to expand the base of customers using our auction platforms. As
illustrated by the diagram below, we have consistently increased the number of channel partners since 2003 from 6 to 42, and
have recently made investments to focus on recruitment and training in an effort to accelerate the addition of channel partners. We
will also consider future opportunities to work with channel partners who have succeeded in establishing a significant customer
base. The following table sets out the growth in our channel partner relationships since the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003
and data is presented as at December 31, 2007,

Number of Channel Partners

42

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Strengthening and Expanding Long-term Relationships with Government Agencies. We intend to build on the relationships we
have established with federal, state and local government agencies. We expect that our expertise in brokering cost-saving energy




contracts for government agencies will continue to be in demand as contract terms expire and governments look to contract for
low energy prices in a competitive market. We also have seen government agencies leading the way injseeking energy supply
from renewable sources and in purchasing Renewable Energy Certificates. We intend to leverage our government presence into
the environmental commodities markets.

In 2001, we first penetrated the government segment by brokering energy for the United States Federal|Government’s General
Services Administration, or GSA, as a subcontractor to channel partner Science Applications International Corporation, or SAIC.
In September 2003, we were awarded a five-year contract to provide energy brokerage services to the GSA. Working with SAIC,
we have completed hundreds of auctions resulting in dozens of procurements for GSA and its federal |government electricity
consumers in four states and for natural gas in over 30 states. Many of these procurements have a “green” component, and
government customers have purchased over 700,000,000 kilowatt hours of renewable energy or renewable energy certificates, and
have won two awards for “greening” their portfolios.

In 2004, together with SAIC, we assisted the State of Maryland in procuring a two-year electricity supply contract through our
World Enetgy Exchange, leading to an annual savings that we estimate to be over $5 million compared to, the incumbent utility’s
previous rate. In 2005, Maryland was awarded the National Association of State Facilities Administratorsl Innovation Award and
the National Association of State Chief Administrators Outstanding Program Award in recognition of its {innovative approach to
energy procurement and leadership. This recognition has centributed to us along with our channel partners being awarded
contracts to broker energy for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Montgomery County, Maryland, jthe Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, the State of Delaware, the State of New Jersey and the State of Connecticut. We intend to leverage this track record
to secure business relationships with other state and local governments.

Expand our Share in the Natural Gas market. While our core competence has traditionally been in electricity brokerage for
retail energy consumners, we have significantly expanded our current natural gas market share with our acquisition of substantiaily
all of the asscts of EnergyGateway. This acquisition gives us additional staff, natural gas expertise and a post-and-respond
software solution to add to our auction capability. We expect this combination to strengthen our natural gas offering and present
cross-selling opportunities.

Leverage Early Wins in the Wholesale Market. An important rationale for our initial public offering was to enter the wholesale
market where we had initial success in 2005 and 2006. In 2007, we hired five individuals in sales, and subslequent to year end, one
in operations to increase our presence in the wholesale markets. Our initial successes have been validated 'as we have now served
fourteen wholesale customers, adding twelve new relatienships in 2007. We will continue our push intojthis market segment in
order to expand our presence and market share.

Brokering Environmental Commodities. We have expanded our operations by entering into the env1r0nmemal commodities
market by creating the World Green Exchange in 2007 and successfully transacting a variety of commodltlcs during the fourth
quarter of 2007. This success led to a market entry announcement with the formal launch of the World Green Exchange
subsequent to year end. As countries attempt to reduce their environmental emissions in order to achieve compliance under the
Kyoto Protocol and U.S.-based initiatives, we believe that the creation and trading of environmental comnilodmcs will accelerate.
We also believe that the characteristics of this market and these commodities — namely lack of liquidity, fack of transparency, and
product complexity and differentiation — make our auction software and process an excellent approach to transacting these
commodities. We are pursuing several sub-markets both domestically and internationally — including servmg utilities seeking to
meet their renewable portfolio standards, working with project owners to maximize the value of théir carbon offsets, and
facilitating trades between brokers in the secondary market.

Making Strategic Acquisitions. We are also pursuing strategic acquisitions to help us expand geographically, add expertise and
product depth, provide accretive revenue and profit streams or a combination of two or more of the above.

Growing our Direct Sales Force. In certain retail markets and in the emerging wholesale energy and environmental
commodities markets, we believe a direct sales presence will be a benefit to us. A key growth strategy for us has been to open
regional offices (in addition to our Worcester headquarters and Washington, DC sales offices), and staff them with direct sales
people. In 2007, we added 23 sales, marketing and account management personnel, and opened offices in Houston, TX,
Philadelphia, PA, and Boulder, CO, in addition to adding the EnergyGateway office in Dublin, OH.

Bidders, Customers and Channel Partners

Bidders, Our success is heavily dependent on our bidder relationships, the credibility of our bidders Iand the integrity of the
auction process. There are over 200 competitive electricity and natural gas suppliers and over 75 wholesla]e electricity suppliers
registered on the World Energy Exchange, representing a majority of all suppliers in the deregulated electncuy and natural gas
markets. To date, there are over 30 registered bidders on the World Green Exchange. Of the reglstered energy suppliers,
approximately 40 had active contracts with energy consumers that were brokered through our World Energy Exchange as of
December 31, 2007. Two of these energy suppliers each accounted for over 10% individually and approx1mately 31% in the
aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007, and four of these energy suppliers each !accounted tor over 10%
individually and approximately 51% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. In order to
participate in an auction event, bidders must register with us by either entering into a standard-form agreement pursuant to which




the bidder is granted a license to access our auction platform and bid at auction events or by qualifying to participate in an auction
pursuant to a government solicitation. Qur national standard form agreement 1s for an indefinite term, may be terminated by either
party upon 30 days prior written notice, is non-exclusive, non-transferable and cannot be sublicensed. Under our standard-form
agreement or the government solicitation, the bidder agrees to pay us a commission, which varies from contract to contract and
which is based on a set rate per energy unit consumed by the customer.

Customers. Customers using our auction platform to procure energy and environmental commodities include government
agencies, commercial and industrial energy consumers, utilities, municipal utilities, environmental commodity project owners,
financial institutions and brokers, Government energy consumers have complex energy needs in terms of both scope and scale,
which we believe can best be met with a technology-based solution such as the World Energy Exchange. Additionally, the
automated nature of our World Energy Exchange auction platform is designed to support protest free auctions. We have brokered
energy for the GSA and over 25 federal agencies, Montgomery County, Maryland, the State of Maryland, the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the State of Delaware, the State of New Jersey and the State of Connecticut.

Our contracts for the online energy procurements with these governmental entities are typically for multiple years ranging from
2 to 5 years. During this contractual period, the governmental entity may run various auctions for different locations or agencies
that fall under their purview. As a result, revenue from these customers could extend beyond the actual contractual term. We
currently have contracts with 6 of the 10 currently deregulated states that are competitive. As additional states open their
electricity markets to competition and suppliers enter those markets creating a competitive landscape, we plan to actively market
our services to them. These contracts do not require that the government energy consumer use our services and, as is typical in
government procurements, contain termination for convenience clauses. If a contract was terminated for convenience, it would
typically not have any bearing on energy delivered through the termination date.

Two of the energy consumers using our auction platform each accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 30% in
the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007, and four of these energy consumers accounted for over 10%
individually and approximately 63% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Percent of Revenue
for the Year Ended

Contract Party December 31, 2007
State OF Maryland ..ottt ettt e st e e bbb bbb bbb n s 16%
General Services AdMIMISITALION. ...c...oee ettt et e e e et e et e e e e s s e ne s e s et saasene et e saasaesan 14%

Direct Sales. We also maintain a direct sales arm. Retail targets of direct sales efforts are typically large companies with
facilities in many geographic locations including hotel chains, wholesale clubs, property management firms, big box retailers,
supermarkets, department stores, drug stores, convenience stores, restaurant chains, financial services firms, and manufacturers
across various industries. We also are pursuing utilities, municipal utilities, and retail energy providers in the wholesale market,
and project owners, customers secking to meet compliance obligations, and brokers in the environmental commodities markets.

Channel Pariners. We also target customers through our channel pariner model. These are firms with existing client relationships
with certain customers that would benefit from the addition of an online procurement solution. Channel panners consist of a
diverse array of companies including energy service companies, demand side consultants and manufacturers, ABCs and strategic
sourcing companies, but in the most general terms they are resellers or distributors. As of December 31, 2007, we have entered
into agreements with 42 channel partners, including SAIC and Cargill Energy Services, LLC, which are currently engaged in
efforts to source potential transactions to our exchanges, although not all have sourced a transaction for which an auction has been
completed. Upon identifying opportunities with new channel partners, we enter into a channel partner agreement that grants the
channel partner a non-exclusive right to sell our procurement process for a term of one year, which term renews automatically
unless terminated upon 30 days written notice. The channel partner receives a commission based on the amount of involvement of
the channel partner in the procurement process.

Competition

Customers have a broad array of options when purchasing energy or environmental commodities. Retail energy consumers can
either purchase energy directly from the utility at the utility’s rate or purchase energy in the deregulated market through one of the
following types of entities: competitive energy suppliers, ABCs and online brokers. We compete with competitive energy
supplicrs, ABCs and other online brokers for energy consumers that arc seeking an alternative to purchasing dircctly from the
utility. Wholesale customers typically buy from generators, traders, traditional brokers who use phone-based methods, or bid-ask
exchanges. Environmental commodity customers typically buy or sell directly through bilateral transactions, brokers, traders or
bid-ask exchanges.

Technology

Our World Energy Exchange and World Green Exchange auction platforms are comprised of a scalable transaction processing
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architecture and web-based user interface. The auction platforms are primarily based on internally developed proprietary software,
but also inciudes third party components for user interface elements and reporting. The auction platforms support the selling and
buying processes including bid placements, bidder registration and managememnt, channe! partner manaéement, deal process
management, contract management, site management, collection and commission management, and reporting. The auction
platforms maintain current and historical data online for all of these components.

Our technology systems are monitored and upgraded as necessary to accommodate increasing levels of traffic and transaction
volume on the website. However, future upgrades or additional technology licensing may be rcquire‘d to ensure optimal
performance of our auction platform services. See “Risk Factors™ at Item 1A. To provide maxumum uptime and system
availability, our auction platform is hosted in a multi-tiered, secure, and reliable fault tolerant environment which includes backup
power supply to computer equipment, climate control, as well as physical security to the building and data center. In the event of a

major system component failure, such as a system motherboard, spare servers are available.

We strive to offer a high level of data security in order to build the confidence in our services among customers and to protect
the participants’ private information. Qur security infrastructure has been designed to protect data from unauthorized access, both
physically and over the Internet. The most sensitive data and hardware of the exchanges reside at the data centers,

Intellectual Property

We enter into confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements with third parties with whom we conduct business in order to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary information.

We operate our auction platform under the trade names “World Energy Exchange” and “World Green Exchange”. We also own
the following domain names: worldenergy.com, wesplatform.com, wexch.com, worldenergyexchange.com, echoicenet.com, e-
choicenet.com, worldenergysolutions.com, worldenergysolutions.net, worldenergy.biz, worldgreenexchange.com,
worldgreenexchange.biz, worldgreenexchange.info, worldgreenexchange.us and worldpowerexchange.com. To protect our
intellectual property, we rely on a combination of copyright and trade secret laws and the domain name dispute resolution system.

Our corporate name and certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they are generic or in use
by another party. We may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade names or corporatc names: that are confusingly
similar or identical to ours. A company organized under the laws of the State of Florida and whose shares are publicly traded
under the symbol “WEGY™ also operates under the name “World Energy Solutions, Inc.” According to its filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, this other company changed its name to “World Energy Solutions” i in 'November 2005, and
is in the business of energy conservation technologies and environmental sustainability. This appears to be a different business
than ours. We cannot assure you that this other company will not seek to challenge our right to the usc of our name, in which case
we could be drawn into litigation and, if unsuccessful could be required, or could decide, to cease using the name World Energy
Solutions, Inc., in which case we would not realize any value we had built in our name. Additionally, ou:r reputation could be
damaged if the other company continues its use of the name World Energy Solutions, Inc. and such other company develops a

negative reputation.

We do not have any patents and if we are unable to protect our copyrights, trade secrets or domain names, our business could
be adversely affected. Others may claim in the future that we have infringed their intellectual property rights

Personnel

As of December 31, 2007, we had sixty-three employees consisting of three members of senior management, twenty-nine sales
and marketing employees, four information technology employees, twenty-two trading desk employees and five administrative
employees. In addition, we rely on a number of consultants and other advisors. The extent and timing of any increase in staffing
will depend on the avaiiability of qualified personnel and other developments in our business. None of the employees are
represented by a labor union, and we believe that we have good relationships with our employees.

Company Information

We commenced operations through an entity named Oceanside Energy, Inc., or Oceanside, which was incerporated under the
laws of the State of Delaware on September 3, 1996. We incorporated World Energy Solutions, [nc. under the laws of the State of
Delaware under the name “World Energy Exchange, Inc.” on June 22, 1999, and on October 31, 1999,‘ Qceanside became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of World Energy Solutions, Inc. through a share exchange whercby Oceanside stq‘ckholders were given
shares of common stock of World Energy in exchange for their Oceanside shares. Oceanside was subsequently dissclved on
May 18, 2006, On December 21, 2006, we incorporated a 100% owned subsidiary, World Energy Securities' Corp., under the laws
of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

On December 5, 2006 we concluded our initial public offering for the sale of 23,000,000 shares ofcommon stock resulting in
net proceeds to the Company of approximately $17.5 million (net of offering costs of approximately $3.6 m'llhon) In connection
with the closing of this offering all of the outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock and non-yoting common stock

.
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converted into 19,416,310 shares of voting common stock.

Our registered and principal office is located at 446 Main Street, Worcester, Massachusetts, 01608, United States of America,
and our telephone number is {508) 459-8100. Our website is located at www.worldenergy.com.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below before deciding to invest in shares of our common
stock. If any of the following risks or uncertainties actuaily occurs, our business, prospecis, financial condition and operating
results would likely suffer, possibly materially. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could
lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have limited operating experience and a history of operating losses, and we may be subject to risks inherent in early stage
companies, which may make it difficult for you to evaluate our business and prospects.

We have a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our business and prospects. We began assisting in energy
transactions in 2001 and introduced our current auction model in April of that same year. Further, we have a history of losses and,
at December 31, 2007, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $12.9 million. We cannot provide any assurance that we
will be profitable in any given period or at all. You must consider our business, financial history and prospects in light of the risks
and difficulties we face as an early stage company with a limited operating history. In particular, our management may have less
experience in implementing our business plan and strategy compared to our competitors, including our strategy to increase our
market share and build our brand name. In addition, we may face challenges in planning and forecasting accurately as a result of
our limited historical data and inexperience in implementing and evaluating our business strategies. Our inability to successfully
address these risks, difficulties and challenges as a result of our inexperience and limited operating history may have a negative
impact on our ability to implement our strategic initiatives, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our costs will increase significantly as we expand our business and in the event that our revenue does not increase
proportionately, we will generate significant operating losses in the future.

We expect to significantly increase our operating expenses as we continue to expand our brokerage capabilities to offer
additional energy-related products, increase our sales and marketing efforts and develop our administrative organization. We also
are incurring increased costs as a result of being a publicly held company with shares listed on the Toronte Stock Exchange. As
we seek to expand our business rapidly, we may incur significant operating losses. For the twelve months ended December 31,
2007, we incurred a net loss of approximately $8.6 million, which was a direct result of these increased costs. [n addition, our
budgeted expense levels are based, in significant part, on our expectations as to future revenue and are largely fixed in the short
term. As a result, we may be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected shortfall in revenue
which could compound those losses in any given fiscal period.

Our business is heavily influenced by how much regulated wtility prices for energy are above or below competitive market
prices for energy and, accordingly, any changes in regulated prices or cyclicality or volatility in competitive market prices
heavily impacts our business.

When energy prices increase in competitive markets above the price levels of the regulated utilities, energy consumers are less
likely to lock-in to higher fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are less likely to use our auction platform.
Accordingly, reductions in regulated energy prices can severely negatively impact our business. Any such reductions in regulated
energy prices over a large geographic area or over a long period of time would have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations. Similarly, cyclicality or volatility in competitive market prices that have
the effect of driving those prices above the regulated utility prices will make our auction platform less useful to energy consumers
and will negatively impact our business.

The online brokerage of energy and environmental commodities is a relatively new and emerging market and it is uncertain
whether our auction model will gain widespread acceptance.

The emergence of competition in the energy and environmental commodities markets are relatively recent developments, and
industry participants have not yet achieved consensus on how to most efficiently take advantage of the competitive environment.
We believe that as the online energy brokerage industry matures, it is likely to become dominated by a relatively small number of
competitors that can offer access to the largest number of competitive suppliers and consumers, Brokerage exchanges with the
highest levels of transaction volume will likely be able to offer energy suppliers lower transaction costs and offer consumers better
prices, which we believe will increasingly create competitive barriers for smaller online brokerage exchanges. For us to capitalize
on our position as an early entrant into this line of business, we will need to generate widespread support for our auction platform
and continue to rapidly expand the scale of our operations. Other online auction or norn-auction strategies may prove to be more




attractive to the industry than our auction model. If an alternative brokerage exchange model becomes widely accepted in the
electricity industry and/or the other energy-related industries we participate in, our business will fail.

We depend on a small number of key energy consumers for a significant portion of our revenue, many of which are
government entities that have no obligation to use our auction platform or continue their relationship with us, and the
partial or complete loss of business of one or more of these consumers could negatively affect our business.

We have an energy consumer base comprised primarily of large businesses and government organizations.|Two of these energy
consumers each acceunted for over 10% individually and approximately 30% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2007, and four of these energy consumers accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 63% in the
aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. Our government contracts are typically for r}lultiple years but are
subject to government funding contingencies and cancellation for convenience clauses. Although our non—éovernment contracts
create a short-term exclusive relationship with the energy consumer, typically this exclusivity relates only to the specific auction
event and expires during the term of the energy contract. Accordingly, we do not have ongoing commltments from these energy
consumers to purchase any of their incremental energy requirements utilizing our auction platform, and they are not prohibited
from using competing brokerage services. The loss of any of these key energy consumers will negatively limpact our revenue,
particularly in the absence of our ability to attract additional energy consumers to use our service.

We do not have contracts for fived volumes with the energy suppliers who use our auction platform and we depend on a
small number of key energy suppliers, and the partial or complete loss of one or more of these energy suppliers as a
participant on our auction platform could undermine our ability to execute effective auctions.

We do not have contracts for fixed volumes with any of the energy suppliers who use our auction platform. Two energy
suppliers each accounted for over 10% individually and approximately 32% in the aggregate of our revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2007, and four of these energy suppliers each accounted for over 10% individually and appro!ximately 51% in the
aggregate of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. The loss of any of these or other significant suppliers will
negatively impact our operations, particularly in the absence of our ability to locate additional national suppliers. We do not have
agreements with any of these suppliers preventing them from directly competing with us or utilizing competing services.

We depend on our channel partners to establish and develop certain of our relationships with energy consumers and the loss
of certain channel partners could result in the loss of certain key energy consumers.

We rely on our channel partners to establish certain of our relationships with energy consumers, Qur ability to maintain our
relationships with our channel partners will impact our operations and revenue, We depend on the fi nancial viability of our
channel partners and their success in procuring energy consumers on our behalf. One of our channel partner's was involved with
identifying and qualifying energy consumers which entered into contracts that accounted for approximately 38% and 63% of our
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. Channel partners imay be involved in
various aspects of a deal including but not limited to lead identification, the selling process, project management, data gathering,
contract negotiation, deal closing and post-auction account management. To the exient that a channel partner ceases to do business
with us, or goes bankrupt, dissolves, or otherwise ceases to carry on business, we may lose access to that channel partner’s
existing client base, in which case the volume of energy traded through the World Energy Exchange will be adversely affected
and our revenue will decline.

If we are unable to rapidly implement some or all of our major strategic initiatives, our ability to improve our competitive
position may be negatively impacted.

Our strategy is to improve our competitive position by implementing certain key strategic initiatives in advance of competitors,
including the following:

* continue to develop channel partner relationships;

= strengthen and expand long-term relationships with government agencies;
* target other energy-related markets;

« target utilities in order to broker energy-related products for them;

+ further develop u green credits auction platform

« make strategic acquisitions; and

+ grow our direct sales force.

We cannot assure you that we wiil be successful in implementing any of these key strategic initiatives! or that our time to
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market will be sooner than that of competitors. Some of these initiatives relate to new services or products for which there are no
established markets, or in which we lack experience and expertise. In addition, the execution of our growth strategies will require
significant increases in working capital expenses and increases in capital expenditures and management resources and may subject
us to additional regulatory oversight.

If we are unable to rapidly implement some or all of our key strategic initiatives in an effective and {imely manner, our ability
to improve our competitive position may be negatively impacted, which would have a material and adverse effect on our business
and prospects.

We currently derive substantially all of our revenue from the brokerage of electricity, and as a result our business is highly
susceptible to factors affecting the electricity market over which we have no control,

We derived approximately 75% of revenue during 2007 and 93% of revenue during 2006 from the brokerage of electricity.
Although we expect that our reliance on the brokerage of electricity will diminish as we implement our strategy to expand
brokerage into other markets, we believe that our revenue will continue to be highly dependent on the level of activity in the
electricity market for the near future. Transaction volume in the electricity market is subject to a number of variables, such as
consumption levels, pricing trends, availability of supply and other variables. We have no control over these variables, which are
affected by geopolitical events such as war, threat of war, terrorism, civil unrest, political instability, environmental or climatic
factors and general economic conditions. We are particularly vulnerable during periods when energy consumers perceive that
electricity prices are at elevated levels since transaction volume is typically lower when prices are high relative to regulated utility
prices. Accordingly, if electricity transaction volume declines sharply, our results will suffer.

Our success depends on the widespread adoption of purchasing electricity from competifive sources.

Our success will depend, in large part, on the willingness of commercial, industrial and governmental, or CIG, energy
consumers to embrace competitive sources of supply, and on the ability of our energy suppliers to consistently source electricity at
competitive rates. In most regions of North America, energy consumers have either no or relatively little experience purchasing
electricity in a competitive environment. Although electricity consumers in deregulated regions have been switching from
incumbent utilities to competitive sources, there can be no assurance that the trend will continue. In a majority of states and
municipalities, including some areas which are technically “deregulated”, electricity is still provided by the incumbent local utility
at subsidized rates or at rates that are too low to stimulate meaningful competition by other providers. In addition, extreme price
volatility could delay or impede the widespread adoption of competitive markets. To the extent that competitive markets de not
continue to develop rapidly our prospects for growth will be constrained. Also, there can be no assurance that trends in
government deregulation of energy will continue or will not be reversed. Increased regulation of energy would significantly
damage our business.

Even if our auction brokerage model achieves widespread acceptance as the preferred means to transact electricity and
other energy-related products, we may be unsuccessful in competing against current and future competitors.

We expect that competition for online brokerage of electricity and other energy-related products will intensify in the near
future in response to expanding restructured energy markets that permit consumer choice of energy sources and as technological
advances create incentives to develop more efficient and less costly energy procurement in regional and global markets. The
barriers to entry into the online brokerage marketplace are relatively low, and we expect to face increased competition from
traditional off-line energy brokers, other established participants in the energy industry, online services companies that can launch
online auction services thal are similar to ours and demand response providers.

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have longer operating histories, better brand recognition and significantly
greater financial resources than we do. The management of some of these competitors may have more experience in implementing
their business plan and strategy and they may have pre-existing commercial or other relationships with large energy consumers
andfor suppliers which would give them a competitive advantage. We expect that as competition in the online marketplace
increases, brokerage commissions for the energy industry will decline, which could have a negative impact on the level of
brokerage fees we can charge per transaction and may reduce the relative attractiveness of our exchange services. We expect that
our costs relating to marketing and human resources may increase as our competitors undertake marketing campaigns to enhance
their brand names and to increase the volume of business conducted through their exchanges. We also expect many of our
competitors to expend financial and other resources to improve their network and system infrastructure to compete more
aggressively. Our inability to adequately address these and other competitive pressures would have a material adverse effect on
our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on the services of our senior executives and other key personnel, the loss of whom could negatively affect our
business.

Our future performance will depend substantially on the continued services of our senior management and other key personnel,

including our senior vice president of sales and marketing, vice presidents of business development, chief information officer,
senior vice presidents of operations and our market directors. If any one or more of such persons leave their positions and we are
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unable to find suitable replacement personnel in a timely and cost efficient manner, our business may be disrupted and we may
not be able to achieve our business objectives, including our ability to manage our growth and succt'essﬁ,llly implement our
strategic initiatives. We do not have long-term employment agreements with any of our senior management or other key personnel
and we do not have a non-competition agreement with our current chief executive officer.

We must also continue ta seek ways to retain and motivate all of our employees through various means, including through
enhanced compensation packages. In addition, we will need to hire more employees as we continue to implement our key strategy
of building on cur market position and expanding our business. Competition for qualified personnel in|the areas in which we
compete remains intense and the pool of qualified candidates is limited. Our failure to attract, hire and retain qualified staff on a
cost efficient basis would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, résults of operations and
ability to successfully implement our growth strategies.

We depend on third-party service and technology providers and any loss or break-down in those relationships could damage
our operations significantly if we are unable to find alternative providers.

We depend on a number of third party providers for web hosting, elements of our online auction system data management and
other systems, as well as communications and networking equipment, computer hardware and software and related support and
maintenance. There can be no assurance that any of these providers will be able to continue to provide these services without
interruption and in an efficient, cost-effective manner or that they will be able to adequately meet our needs as our transaction
volume increases. An interruption in or the cessation of such third-party services and our mablhty to make alternative
arrangements in a timely manner, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial tondition and operating
results. There is also no assurance that any agreements that we have in place with such third-party provide}s will be renewed, or if
renewed, renewed on favorable terms.

Our business depends heavily on information technology systems the interruption or unavailability of which conld
materially damuage our operations.

The satisfactory performance, reliability and availability of our exchange, processing systems and network infrastructure are
critical to our reputation and our ability to attract and retain energy consumers and energy suppliers to the World Energy
Exchange. Our efforts to mitigate systems risks may not be adequate and the risk of a system failure or interruption cannot be
eliminated. Although we have never experienced an unscheduled interruption of service, any such interruption in our services may
result in an immediate, and possibly substantial, loss of revenue and damage to our reputation.

Our business also depends upon the use of the Internet as a transactions medium. Therefore, we must remain current with
Internet use and technology developments. Our current technological architecture may not effectively o efficiently support our
changing business requirements.

Any substantial increase in service activities or transaction velume on the World Energy Exchange and the World Green
Exchange may require us to expand and upgrade our technology, transaction processing systems and netwaork infrastructure. There
can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully do so, and any failure could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Breaches of online security could damage or disrupt our reputation and our ability to do business.

To succeed, online communications must provide a secure transmission of confidential information over public networks.
Security measures that are implemented may not always prevent security breaches that could harm our bulsmess Although to our
knowledge we have never experienced a breach of online security, compromise of our security could harlm our reputation, cause
users to lose confidence in our security systems and to not source their energy using our auction platform and also subject us to
lawsuits, sanctions, fines and other penalties. In addition, a party who is able to circumvent our secunty measures could
misappropriate proprietary information, cause interruptions in our operations, damage our computers or those of our users, or
otherwise damage our reputation and business. Our insurance policies may not be adequate to reimburse us for losses caused by
security breaches.

We may need 1o expend significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches.
These issues are likely to become more difficult and costly as our business expands.

To the extent that we expand our operations into foreign markets, additional costs and risks associated with doing business
internationally will apply.

It is possible that we will have international operations in the near future. These operations may include the brokering of green
credits in countrics signatory to the Kyoto Protocol, the outsourcing of data and programming to lower| cost locations, and the
brokering of energy in other geographic markets where we believe the demand for our services may be strong. To the extent we
enter geographic markets outside of the United States, our international operations will be subject to |a number of risks and
potential costs, including:




= different regulatory requirements governing the energy marketplace;

» difficulty in establishing, staffing and managing international operations;

* regulatory regimes governing the Internet and auctioneering that may limit or prevent our operations in some jurisdictions;
+ different and more stringent data privacy laws;

+ differing intellectual property laws;

» differing contract laws that prevent the enforceability of agreements between energy suppliers and energy consumers;

« the imposition of special taxes, including local taxation of our fees or of transactions through our exchange;

« strong local competitors;

» currency fluctuations; and

« political and economic instability.

Our failure to manage the risks associated with international operations could limit the future growth of our business and
adversely affect our operating results. We may be required to make a substantial financial investment and expend significant
management efforts in connection with any international expansion.

The application of taxes including sales taxes and other taxes could negatively affect our business.

The application of indirect taxes (such as sales and use tax, value added tax, goods and services tax, business tax, and gross
receipt tax) to e-commerce businesses and our users is a complex and evolving issue. Many of the fundamental statutes and
regulations that impose these taxes were established before the growth of the Internet and e-commerce. In many cases, it is not
clear how existing statutes apply to the Internet or e-commerce. In addition, some jurisdictions have implemented or may
implement laws specifically addressing the Internet or some aspect of e-commerce. The application of existing or future laws
could have adverse effects on our business.

Several proposals have been made at the United States state and local level that would impose additional taxes on the sale of
goods and services through the Internet. These proposals, if adopted, could substantially impair the growth of e-commerce, and
could diminish our opportunity to derive financial benefit from our activities. The United States federal government’s moratorium
on states and other local authorities imposing access or discriminatory taxes on the Internet, which was scheduled to expire on
November 1, 2007, has been extended by seven years. This moratorium, however, does not prohibit federal, state, or local
authorities from collecting taxes on our income or generally from collecting taxes that are due under existing tax rules.

In comjunction with the Streamlined Sales Tax Project — an ongoing, multi-year effort by certain state and local governments
to require collection and remittance of distant sales tax by out-of-state sellers — bills have been introduced in the U.S. Congress
to overturn the Supreme Court’s Quill decision, which limits the ability of state governments to require sellers outside of their
own state to collect and remit sales taxes on goods purchased by in-state residents. An overturning of the Quill decision would
harm our users and our business.

The passage of new legislation and the imposition of additional tax requirements could increase the costs to energy suppliers
and energy consumers using our auction platform and, accordingly, could harm our business. There have been, and will continue
to be, ongoing costs associated with complying with the various indirect tax requirements in the numerous states, localities or
countries in which we currently conduct or will conduct business.

U.S. federal or state legislative or regulatory reform of the current systems governing commodities or energy may affect our
ability to conduct our business profitably.

We are currently not regulated as an energy provider, broker or commodities dealer. Changes to the laws or regulations
governing activities related to commodities trading or energy procurement, supply, distribution or sale, or transacting in energy-
related products or securities could adversely affect the profitability of our brokerage operations or even our ability to conduct
auctions. In addition, our future lines of business under consideration, including transacting in green credits, could subject us to
additional regulation. Changes to the current regulatory framework could result in additional costs and expenses or prohibit
certain of our current business activities or future business plans. We cannot predict the form any such legislation or rule making
may take, the probability of passage, and the ultimate effect on us.

We may expand our business through acquisition of other businesses and technologies which will present special risks.
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We may expand our business in certain areas through the acquisition of businesses, technologies, products and services
from other businesses. Acquisitions involve a number of special problems, including:

» the need to incur additional indebtedness, issue stock or use cash in order to complete the acquisition;
» difficulty integrating acquired technologies, operations and personnel with the existing business;
» diversion of management attention in connection with both negotiating the acquisitions and integrating the assets;
« strain on managerial and operational resources as managenient tries to oversee larger operations;
+ the funding requirements for acquired companies may be significant;

+ exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies;

« increased risk of costly and time-consuming litigation, including stockholder lawsuits; and

» potential issuance of securities in connection with an acquisition with rights that are superior to the rights of our
common stockholders, or which may have a dilutive effect on our common stockholders.

We may not be able to successfully address these problems. Our future operating results will depend to a significant degree
on our ability to successfully integrate acquisitions and manage operations while also controlling expenses and cash burn.

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property

We may be unable to adequately protect our inteflectual property, which could harm us and affect our ability to compete
effectively.

We have developed proprietary software, logos, brands, service names and web sites, including our proprietary auction
platform. Although we have taken certain limited steps to protect our proprietary intellectual property (mcluidmg consulting with
outside patent and trademark counsel regarding protection of our intellectual property and implementing a program to protect our
trade secrets), we have not applied for any patents with respect to our auction platform, and although we have filed applications
for certain trademarks, we have not registered any trademarks. The steps we have taken to protect our mlel]ectuai property may be
inadequate to deter misappropriation of our proprietary information or deter independent development of 51m1lar technologies by
others. We may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical knowledge or trade secrets by
consultants, vendors, former employees and current employees, despite the existence of confidentiality agreements and other
contractual restrictions. 1f our intellectual property rights are not adequately protected, we may not be]able to continue to
commercialize our services. We may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or take adequate steps to enforce, our intellectual
property rights. In addition, certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they, are generic or in use
by another party. Accordingly, we may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade names that are confusingly similar or
identical to ours.

Our auction platform, services, technologies or usage of trade names could infringe the intellectual prop
which may lead to litigation that could itself be costly, could result in the payment of substantial damages
prevent us from using technology that is essential to our business.

Although no third party has threatened or alleged that our auction platform, services, technologies or u
infringe their patents or other intellectual property rights, we cannot assure you that we do not infringe

erty rights ef others,
or royalties, and/or

sage of trade names
the patents or other

intellectual property rights of third parties.

Infringement and other intellectual property claims and proceedings brought against us, whether successful or not, could result
in substantial costs and harm to our reputation. Defending our intellectual property rights could result m the expenditure of
significant financial and managerial resources, which could adversely affect our business, financial condmon and operating
results. If our business is successful, the possibility may increase that others will assert infringement claims against us.

We use intellectual property licensed from third parties in our operations. There is a risk that such licenses may be terminated,
which could significantly disrupt our business. In such an event, we may be required to spend significant time and money to
develop a non-infringing system or process or license intellectual property that does not infringe upon the rlghts of that other party
or to obtain a license for the intellectual property from the owner. We may not be successful in that developmem or any such
license may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, any litigation could be langthy and costly and
could adversely affect us even if we are successful in such litigation.

Our corporate name and certain of our trade names may not be eligible for protection if, for example, they,
by another party. We may be unable to prevent competitors from using trade names or corporate names
similar or identical to ours. A company organized under the laws of the State of Florida and whose share

are generic or in use
that are confusingly
s are publicly traded

under the symbol “WEGY™ also operates under the name “World Energy Solutions, Inc.” According to its filings with the

Securities and Exchange Commission, this other company changed its name to “World Energy Solutions™ in
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is in the business of energy conservation technologies and environmental sustainability. This appears to be a different business
than ours. We cannot assure you that this other company will not seek to challenge our right to the use of our name, in which case
we could be drawn into litigation and, if unsuccessful could be required, or could decide, to cease using the name World Energy
Solutions, lnc., in which case we would not realize any value we had built in our name, Additionally, our reputation could be
damaged if the other company continues its use of the name World Energy Solutions, Inc. and such other company develops a
negative reputation.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Because there is a limited trading history for our common stock and our stock price may be volatile, you may not be able to
resell your shares at or above your purchase price.

We cannot predict the extent to which investors’ interests will provide an active trading market for our common stock or
whether the market price of our commen stock will be volatile. The market for early stage Internet and technology stocks has been
extremely volatile. The following factors, many of which are outside of our control, could cause the market price of our common
stock to decrease significantly from recent prices:

* loss of any of the major energy consumers or suppliers using our auction platform;

* departure of key personnel;

variations in our quarterly operating results;

announcemenis by our competitors of significant contracts, new transaction capabilitics, enhancements, lower fecs,
acquisitions, distribution partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

changes in governmental regulations and standards affecting the energy industry and our products, including implementation
of additional regulations relating to consumer data privacy;

decreases in financial estimates by equity research analysts;

sales of common stock or other securities by us in the future;

decreases in market valuations of Internet or technology companies; and

fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes.

In the past, securities class action litigation often has been initiated against a company following a period of volatility in the
market price of the company’s securities. If class action litigation is initiated against us, we will incur substantial costs and our
management's attention will be diverted from our operations. All of these factors could cause the market price of our stock to
decline, and you may lose some or all of your investment. Also due to the size of the market capitalization of our shares, and the
fact that we are only publicly listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the market for our common stock may be volatile and may
not afford a high level of liquidity.

Future sales of our common stock by persons who were stockholders prior to our initial public offering or who required
restricted securities that became available for public resale could cause ouar stock price to decline.

If persons who were stockholders prior to our initial public offering sell substantial amounts of our commeon stock in the
public market, the market price of our common stock could decrease significantly. The perception in the public market that
our stockholders might sell shares of common stock could also depress the market price of our common stock. A substantial
portion of our stockholders prior to our initial public offering were subject to lock-up agreements with the underwriters that
restricted their ability to transfer their stock for at least 365 days after the date of the offering. On November 30, 2007, these
lock-up provisions expired and an additional 43,368,733 shares of our common stock became eligible for sale in the public
market. In addition, in January 2007 we filed a registration statement with the SEC covering all of the shares subject to
options outstanding, but not exercised, and all of the shares available for future issuance under our stock incentive plans. In
November 2007, we filed a registration statement with the SEC covering all of the shares issued to the former owner of the
EnergyGateway shares. A decline in the price of shares of our common stock might impede our ability to raise capital
through the issuance of additional shares of our common stock or other equity securities, and may cause you to lose part or
all of your investment in our shares of common stock.

Massachusetts Capital Resource Company holds certain piggy-back and demand registration rights with respect to
600,000 shares. Certain underwriters for our initial public offering have piggy-back registration rights with respect to shares
issuable upon exercise of the warrants i1ssued in connection with our initial public offering. [n the event that the holders of




registration rights were to exercise such rights, upon registration of the shares of our common stock in connection with any
such exercises, sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the applicable public Imarket could occur.
Such sales, or the perception in such market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares could reduce
the market price of our common stock.

Our directors and executive officers have substantial control over us and could limit your ability to influence the outcome of
key transactions, including changes of control.

As of February 29, 2008, our executive officers and directors and entities affiliated with them, bcneﬁcml]y own, in the
aggregate, approximately 29% of our outstanding common stock, [n particular, Richard Domaleski, our chtef executive officer,
beneficially owns approximately 23% of our outstanding common stock. Our executive officers, directors and affiliated entities, if
acting together, would be able to contro! or influence significantly all matters requiring approval by our sti)ckholders, including
the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other significant corporate transactions. These st'ockholders may have
interests that differ from yours, and they may vote in a way with which you disagree and that may be adverse 1o your interests.
The concentration of ownership of our common stock may have the effect of delaying, preventing or detemr{g a change of control
of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of
our company, and may affect the market price of our common stock.

Our corporate documents and Delaware law make a takeover of our company more difficult, we have a classified board of
directors and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws require a super—majoruy vote to amend, all
of which may prevent certain changes in control and limit the market price of our common stock.

Our charter and by-laws contain provisions that might enable our management to resist a takeover )f our company. Our
certificate of incorporation and by-laws establish a classified board of directors such that our directors serve staggered three-year
terms and do not all stand for re-election every year. In addition, any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders
at an annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders may only be taken if it is properly brought bef‘orel the meeting and may
not be taken by written action in lieu of a meeting, and special meetings of the stockholders may only be called by the chairman of
the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or our Board. Further, our certificate of incorporation provides that directors may be
removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of 75% of our shares of capital stock entltled to vote, and any
vacancy on our Board, including a vacancy resulling from an enlargement of our Board, may only be f'lled by vote of a majority
of our directors then in office. In addition, our by-laws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be
brought before an annual meeting of stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for clectioh to the Board. These
provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws, including those setting forth the classified b(')ard. require a super-
majority vote of stockholders to amend. These provisions might discourage, delay or prevent a change|in the control of our
company or a change in our management. These provisions could jalso discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for
you and other stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. The existence of these prO\lfisions could limit the
price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for sharcs/()four common stock.

We may choose not to continue to file periodic reports with the SEC if we are not required to do so, whf'ch waould limit the

information available about uys in the United States, and because we are not listing on a United States exchange, we do not
have the same disclosure and corperate governance obligations as a company that is so listed.

Under United States securities laws, we are required to file informational reports about us with the SEC including pertodlc
reports on Forms !0-K and 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K. However, unless we list our shares on a market located in the
United States, our obligation to {ilc those reports will be suspended as to any year in the event that our shares are held by fewer
than 300 stockholders of record as of the beginning of that year. [n such an event, we may choose not to file those reports and the
information you would thereafter receive about us would be limited. We may choose not to file those rc'ports for cost or other
reasons. [n addition, in the event we are not required to be a reporting issuer under the Exchange Act we will no longer be subject
to certain rules intended to protect U.S. investors, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our determination n{)t to file those reports
could have the result of limiting the market for our shares, and thereby have a negative cffect on our stock price. Should we not
have an obligation to file periodic reports in accordance with United States securities laws, we expect to file periodic reports in
compliance with National Instrument 51-102 of the Canadian securities regulators so long as shares of our common stock is listed
on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Our shares are registercd on the Toronte Stock Exchange and not on any U.S. exchange. Because we are not currently listed on
any U.S. exchange, we do not have the same disclosure and corporate governance obligations as compames that are listed on a
U.S. exchange. However, we are subject to corporate governance and disclosure requirements of compamés listed on the Toronto
Stock Exchange and as a result ol being a reporting issuer in each of the provinces of Canada.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.




Item 2. Properties

We do not own any real property. We lease the business premises in the following locations for the stated principal uses:

Approximate

Floor Space
Location {Square Feet) Principal Use
446 Main Street, Worcester, Massachusetts (1) ..o e 7.458 Executive office and general
administration
1215 19" Street NW, Washington, District of Columbia {2) ..o 400 Branch office
1035 Pear] Street, Boulder, CO (3) oottt 322 Branch office
10001 Woodloch Forest Drive, The Woodlands, TX (4) oo 2,027 Branch office
208 West 10™ Street, Georgetown, TX (5) ......... 400 Branch office
770 East Market Street, West Chester, PA (6) 575 Branch office
4995 Bradenton Avenue, Dublin OH {7} .o 4,500 Branch office

Note:

(1)  Pursuant to two lease agreements with Sovereign Bank expiring December 31, 2009, at a monthly rate escalating to
$11,931 in 2009, plus operating expenses and taxes.

(2)  Pursvant to a five-year lease agreement with Roosevelt Land, LP expiring July 16, 2011, at a monthly rate of
$5,000, plus operating expenses and taxes.

(3)  Pursuant to a one-year lease agreement with Kabili, LLC expiring March 31, 2008, at a monthly rate of $1,950,
plus certain operating expenses.

(4) Pursuant to a five-year lease agreement with NNN Waterway Plaza, expiring March 31, 2012, at a monthly rate
escalating to $5,574, plus operating expenses and taxes.

(5)  Pursuant to a one-year lease agreement with Kevin Stotz, expiring May 31, 2008, at a monthly rate of $400, plus
certain operating expenses.

(6)  Pursuant to a two year lease agreement with High Associates LTD expiring December 31, 2009, at a menthly rate
escalating to $970, plus certain operating expenses.

{(7)  Pursuant to a sixty two-month lease agreement with Rickert Property Management, expiring July 31, 2012, a
monthly rate escalating to $3,750, plus operating expenses and taxes.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

>
From time to time we may be a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. Our management
is not aware of any litigation outstanding, threatened or pending as of the date hercof by or against us or our properties which we
believe would be material to our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable.




PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchaseslof Equity Securities

Our common stock (Symboel “XWE™) began trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX"”) on Novemlber 16, 2006. Prior to
this date, there was no established public trading market for our common stock. Our common stock does not currently trade on a
U.S. national market.

The following tabie sets forth the high and low closing prices per share reported on TSX for the periods shown, commencing
with the quarter of our initial public offering on November 16, 2006 (in US §’s):

High Low
2007
First quarter $1.00 £0.82
Second quarter $1.53 $0.82
Third quarter $1.77 $1.08
Fourth quarter $1.31 80.55
2006:
Fourth quarter $1.25 $0.91

On February 29, 2008, the last reported sale price of our common stock on TSX was CAD$0.75 per share and there were 141
holders of record of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retalr our future earnings, if
any, to finance the expansion of our business and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

[nformation regarding our equity compensation plans requlred by this item is incorporated by reference to the information
appearing under the caption “Equity Compensation Plan Information™ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual
Meeting of Stockhelders.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
We registered shares of our common stock in connection with our initial public offering concurrently in Capada under the terms
of a Supplemented Prep Prospectus dated November 9, 2006 and in the United States under the Securities Act. Our Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-136528) in connection with our initial public offering was declared effective by the SEC on
November 9, 2006. As of December 31, 2007, we have used approximately $10 million of the net proc'eeds of the initial
public offering to redeem our long-term debt, to acquire the assets of Energy Gateway, for working ca'pital and to fund
operations. The remaining net proceeds of the initial public offering are invested in short-term, highl}'j liquid money market
accounts with an original maturity of 90 days or less. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from
our initial public offering as described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b).

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

Repurchase of Equity Securities
None.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following table summarizes our consolidated financial data for the periods presented. You should read the following
financial information together with the information under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those consolidated financial statements
appearing elsewhere in this annual report. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20035, and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are
derived from the audited consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this document. The selected
consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated balance sheet
data at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this document.
The consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003 is derived from cur unaudited consolidated financial statements not
included in this document. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in future periods.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Cansolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue ... 9,188,265 § 5,763,098 % 4,673,987 § 3,191,660 § 2,474,699

Cost of revenu 2874678 1,166,426 648,410 563,972 872,047
Gross profit.......... 6,313,587 4,596,672 4,025,577 2,627,688 1,602,052
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing........cocoeevveirenevecessicrnen e 8,508,256 3,227,263 2,649,786 1,814,799 1,781,173
General and administrative. ........c.cococevnrnerrrenne 5.858.810 1,862,450 995,703 710,462 557,910
Total Operating EXpenses........coocoveveeecrreeervernns 14,457 066 5,089,713 3,645,489 2.525.261 2,339,083
Operating income (loss)...... (8,143,479 (493,041) 380,088 102,427 (737.031)
Other income (cxpcmc) net(l Y. 563,204 {312.280) {B86,838) 960,524 (180.738)
Income (loss) before income taxes (7,580,183) (805,321} 293,250 1,062,951 (517,769)
Income tax (expense) benefit...... (1.061,720% 104,228 754,000 — —
Net income (loss)... PO (8,641,905) {501,093) 1,047,250 1,062,951 (917,769)
Accretion of pref'erred stock issuance L()h[h — (6,299) {7.199) (7.199) {7,199)
Net income (loss) available to common
stockholders... e B___(8,641,905) $ (507,392) § 1,040,051 § 1,055,752 % {924,968)
Net income (loss} aval]able to common
stockholders per share:
Basic Voting............. RO PUNPN. 4 0.1 § (0.01) % 002 § 002 § (0.03)
Basic Non-Voting . e 3 — 5 — 5 002 % 002 % (0.03)
Diluted Voting and N 2. . % {0.11) § (0.01) § 0.0z § 002 % (0.03)
Weighted average shares outstandmg — Basm
Voting Common Stock... 79,793,590 45576477 33,049.472 32,058,759 30,105,188
Non-Voting Common Stouk — — 6.778.327 2,880,592 339,726
Total Common Stock-Basic... 79,793,590 __ 45,570.477 39,827,799 34,939,351 30,444,914
Weighted Avuragc Shares Outstundmg —
Diluted:.. rereeeen 79,793,590 45,576.471 54,506,566 52,096,206 30,444,914

(1)  Other income {expense) for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes a gain of $1,062,775 from extinguishment of debt.

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents. $ 7,001,884 § 17483886 § 1,584,066 % 49,389 § 220,796
Working capital ...... 5323622 16,639,898 1,372,542 (882,162) (2,051.277)
Total assets ......... 20,800,565 20,791,38t 3,787,842 941,688 934,635
Long-term liabilities ... 46,222 87,844 1,879,745 150,368 25,565
Series A redeemable Lnn\,emble preferred stock... — — 1,501,698 1,494,499 1,487,300
Accumulated deficit... . {12,853,272) (4,211,367) (3,710,274) (4,747.524) (5,820,475)
Total stockholders’ equny (def'cn) $ 16,859.799 § 17945002 S (938,883) § (2,241,134) ¢ (3,485,026)

21




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of owr financial condition and results of operations together with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Farm 10-K. Some of the
information contained in this discussion and analysis includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
You should review the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materiaily from the results described in or implied by the forward-iooking statements contained in the following
discussion and analysis.

Overview

World Energy is an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has developed online auction
platforms, the World Energy Exchange and the World Green Exchange. On the World Energy Exchange retail energy
consumers (commercial, industrial and government, or CIG} and wholesale energy partmpants (utilities and retail
suppliers) in the United States are able to negotiate for the purchase or sale of electricity and other energy resources from
competing energy suppliers which have agreed to participate on our auction platform in a given auction. The World Energy
Exchange is supplemented with information about market rules, pricing trends, energy consumer us'age and load profiles.
Our procurement staff uses this auction platform to conduct auctions, analyze results, guide energy consumers through
contracting, and track their contracts, sites, accounts and usage history. Although our primary source of revenue is from
brokering electricity and natural gas, we adapted our World Energy Exchange auction platfcorml to accommodate the
brokering of green power in 2003 (i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources), wholesale electr1e1ty in 2004, certain
other energy-related products in 2005. In 2007, we created the World Green Exchange based on the World Energy
Exchange technology and business process. On the World Green Exchange, buyers and sellers neg-louate for the purchase
or sale of environmental commodities such as Renewable Energy Certificates, Verified Emissions Reductions and Certified
Emissions Reductions.

During 2007, we continued to increase our cost structure to support our growth plans. As of December 31, 2007, we
employed 63 full time employees versus 20 as of December 31, 2006. The staffing increases in 2007 Iwere primarily related
to the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway LLC (“EnergyGateway”), which employed eighteen
individuals, and the hiring of eleven sales and marketing professionals, eight individuals spectﬁcally‘r focused on the green
markets and six individuals within our operations and administrative groups. Four of the eleven sales and marketing
professionals hired in 2007 are specifically assigned to the wholesale market. These increased emp[oyee and related costs
were the major fuctors contributing to our increased cost structure in all functional areas during 2007, as compared to 2006.
We expect our operating expenses to rise slightly as we expand our brokerage capabilities in our retail, wholesale and green
product lines, including increased sales and marketing efforts and continued expansion of our back|office operation. We
also expect there to be continued significant compliance costs associated with being a public company reporting in both the
United States and Canada.

On June 1, 2007, we acquired substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway for $4,951,758 in cash and 5,375,000 of
our common shares plus the assumption of certain liabilities. The EnergyGateway operations are included in our financial
statements from June 1, 2007, EnergyGateway provided energy procurement and value-added energ}% services to customers
in many major industries in the U.S. and Canada, from large multi-site Fortune 500 industrials to middle-market
manufacturing and small commercial operations.
Operations

Revenue

Retail Electricity Transactions

We receive a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through our online auction platform from each energy
supplier based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Qur
commissions are not based on the retail price for electricity; rather, commissions are based on the energy usage generated
and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by our centractual commission rate. Our
contractual commission rate is negotiated with the energy consumer on a procurement-by-procurement basis based on
energy consumer specific circumstances, including size of auction, internal effort required to organize and run the
respective auction and competitive factors, among others. Once the contractual commission is agreed to with the energy
consumer, all energy suppliers participating in the auction agree to that rate. That commission rate remains fixed for the
duration of the contractual term regardless of energy usage. Energy consumers provide us with a letter of authority to
request their usage history from the local utility. We then use this data to compile a usage profile fot that energy consumer
that will become the basis for the auction. This data may also be used to estimate revenue on a going forward basis, as
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noted below.

Historically, our revenue and operating results have varied from quarter-to-quarter and are expected to continue to
fluctuate in the future. These fluctuations are primarily due to energy usage, particularly electricity, having higher demand
in our second and third quarters and lower demand during our fourth and first quarters. In addition, the activity levels on the
World Energy Exchange can fluctuate due to a number of factors, including geopolitical events, weather conditions and
market prices. To the extent these factors affect the purchasing decisions of energy consumers our future results of
operations may be affected.

Contracts between energy suppliers and energy consumers are signed for a variety of term lengths, with a one year
contract term being typical for commercial and industrial energy consumers, and government contracts typically having two
to three year terms. Our revenue has grown over the last three years through new participants utilizing our World Energy
Exchange as well as energy consumers increasing the size or frequency of their transactions on our exchange platform.

We generally do not directly invoice our electricity energy suppliers and, therefore, we report a substantial portion of our
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilted accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the
energy suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates and is made
up of two components. The first component represents energy usage for which we have received actual data from the
supplier and/or the utility but for which payment has not been received al the balance sheet date. The majority of our
contractual relationships with energy suppliers require them to supply actual usage data to us on a monthly basis and remit
payment to us based on that usage. The second component represents energy usage for which we have not received actual
data, but for which we have estimated usage.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees.
Transaction fees are bilied to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. Transaction fees for
natural gas and electricity awards are established prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of our
natural gas transactions, we bill the supplier upon the conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume
transacted for the entire award term multiplied by the transaction fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers
and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on terms and conditions included in contractual
arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are accounted in accordance with this pelicy, a
certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and recognized as revenue in accordance
with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.

Wholesale and Green Transactions

For wholesale energy and environmental commedity transactions, substantially all transaction fees are invoiced upon the
conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to future energy usage and are recognized upon
the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where our customers bid for a consumer’s business, the fees are
paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy or credits, the fees are typically paid by the lister. In
addition, revenue may not be recognized on certain green transactions untit the credits being auctioned have been verified.
While substantially all wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage is accounted
for as the wholesale electricity or gas is delivered similar to the retail electricity transaction methodology described above.

Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily of:

»

. salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation associated with our auction management services,
which are directly related o the development and production of the online auction and maintenance of market-
related data on our auction platform and monthly management fees (our supply desk function);

. amortization of capitalized costs associated with our auction platform and acquired developed technology; and

. rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of:
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. salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation related to sales and marketing personnel;

. third party commission expenses to our channel partners;

. travel and related expenses;

. amortization related to customer relationships and contracts;

. rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs; and

. general marketing costs such as trade shows marketing materials and outsourced services;

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of:

. salaries, employee benefits and stock-based compensation related to general and administrative personnel;
. accounting, legal, recruiting and other professional fees; and
. rent, depreciation and other related overhead and facility-related costs.

Interest income (expense), net

Interest income (expense), net consists primarily of:

. interest income in 2007 related to the invested portion of the proceeds from our initial public offering;
. interest expense in 2007 and 2006 related to capital leases; and
. interest expense in 2006 on our $2.0 million subordinated note payable to Massachusetts Capital Resource

Company, or MCRC, including the accretion of warrants, that was redeemed on December 4, 2006.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense of approximately $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 resulted; from the application
of a full valuation allowance provided against deferred tax assets generated in prior years due to uncertainty regarding the
realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss carryforwards, in the future.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain items as a percent of revenue for the periods presented:

For the \‘cnrs Ended

December 31,

2007 2006 2005
REVEIUE ..cvvivrirrerte ettt e e e e s e s s e e se e e eae s st ea iR e r et r e e e re e 100% 100% 100%
COSE DI TEVEIILE ..ot eeee et eetoessts e e e e e sastbsbe e se e e eeertn sos s se st 2 enmren snsebsbeessnsrsaeessesssanbsnnren _31 _20 _14
GTOSS PTOTIE oottt ettt e e e m e a e e 69 g0 &6
Operating expenses:
Sales and MATKETIIE oo et st b er et s se s bt ne e sab e e e 94 56 57
General and administrative 33 21
Operaling INCOME (1OSS) ..evivviriireaieirsirearerrtssesierisases st s errareasnes st ternerssessessteareennssssessessresnnssssese (9 8
IRLErest INCOME (EXPIEINSE Jutiiuiiuriareeeiiiiiiei e src et ae st st ras s b bt e s s s b et e e s b e r et n e sineas (5) (2)
Income tax benefit (expense) .. |5 _16
INEE INCOME (JOSS) ... vverraiirisiniirmssnsi i e e s em e s srsns s v sn s se s e s esseasan s ons sese s — L (9% _22%
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Revenue
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2007 2006 Increase
RUEVETIUC oottt e ettt s sa b e b i e s v s s ke s ab b e e be s s s rear b e e raressbaerases srngennteaenneannseeaseeanee $ 9188265 8§ 5,763,098 $3,425,167 59%

Revenue increased 59% primarily due to increased auction activity in multiple product lines, new customer wins and the
acquisition of the assets of EnergyGateway during the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the same period in
2006. The revenue increase reflects the growth of our wholesale customer base to 12 in 2007 from 2 in 2006 as well as an
increase to 42 channel partners as of December 31, 2007 from 29 as of December 31, 2006. Of those channel partners, 25
had contributed to our revenue by brokering transactions over the exchange during 2007 as compared to 18 during 2006.

Cost of revenue

For the Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006
hY % of Revenue ] %% of Revenue Increase

Cost 0f TEVENUE oo 5 2,874,678 31% 51,166,426 20% $1,708,252  146%

The 146% increase in cost of revenue related to the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the same period in
2006 was substantially due to the addition of ten former EnergyGateway employees, an increase in salary and benefit costs
associated with nine new supply desk employees and, to a lesser extent, amortization related to developed technology
acquired. Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue increased 11% due to the cost increases noted above partially offset by
the 59% increase in revenue.

Operating expenses

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006
b %% of Revenue 3 % of Revenue Increase
Sales and marketing .......ccoocoeeivcieiincrnrcrinecinns § 8,598,256 94%, § 3,227.263 56% $5,370,993 166%
General and administrative ..o 5,858,810 64 1,862,450 13 3.996.360 215
Total operating CXPEnses ....oocvevveervererrerinnensones $ 14,457,066 158% $ 5089713 89% $9,367.353 184%

The 166% increase in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the same
period in 2006 primarily reflects the addition of eleven new sales and marketing employees, general salary increases and
the addition of the former Energy(ateway employees. In addition, the increased costs include amortization related to
customer relationships and contracts as well as increases in travel, consulting and marketing expenses. Sales and marketing
expense as a percentage of revenue increased 38% due to increased costs discussed above partially offset by the 59%
increase in revenue.

The 215% increase in general and administrative expenses related to the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to
the same period in 2006 was primarily due to an increase in legal, audit and other compliance costs, the addition of four
corporate employees, the addition of the former EnergyGateway employees and assets and increases in benefits, recruiting,
and occupancy related costs. The increase in legal and audit costs were primarily related to increased compliance and
infrastructure activities in support of our growth initiatives, including compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and ongoing
public company costs and the acquisition of the assets of EnergyGateway. General and administrative expenses as a percent
ol revenue increased 31% substantially due to the cost increases noted above, partially offset by the 59% increase in
revenue.

Interest income (expense), net

Interest income, net was approximately $563,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007. Interest expense, net was
approximately $312,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. Interest income in 2007 was primarily due to interest
eamed on the invested portion of the proceeds from our initial public offering. Interest expense in 2006 was primarily due
to interest paid on our $2.0 million subordinated note with the MCRC. This note was retired in December 2006,

Income tax provision

We recorded an income tax provision of approximately $1.1 miltion for the year ended December 31, 2007, reflecting
the application of a full valuation allowance provided against deferred tax assets generated in prior years due to uncertainty
regarding the realization of those deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss carryforwards, in the future. We recorded
an income tax benefit of approximately $304,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006, reflecting an effective federal and
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state tax rate of 38% as we determined that it was more likely than not that a portion of our deferred tax assets would be
benefited against expected future income.

Net loss

We reported a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2007 of approximately $8.6 million as compared to a net loss of
approximately $501,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase in net loss is primarily due to the higher
operating expenses discussed above and, to a lesser extent, the income tax provision partially offset by increases in revenue
and interest income.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Revenue
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 Incrense
REVENUE ..ottt ettt ettt n st et nnear e § 5,763,098 § 4,673,987 $1,089,111 23%

Revenue increased 23% primarily due to increased energy usage by energy consumers during the year ended December 31,
2006 as compared to the same period in 2005. This increase was primarily due to the addition of new government procurements
and the increase to 29 channel partners as of December 31, 2006 from 16 as of December 31, 2005. Of those channel partners, 18
had successfully contributed to our revenue by brokering transactions over the exchange durmg 2006 as cémpared to 10 during
2005.

Cost of revenue
For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005
3 Yo of Revenue b % of Revenue Increase
COSEOTTEVEIIUL oveeeeeeeee e e s re e vnes e saeen $1,166,426 20% $ 648410 14% $ 518016 80%

The 80% increase in cost of revenue related to the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the same petiod in 2005 was
substantially due to an increase in employee and employee-related costs associated with the addition of four new employees and
general salary increases. Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue increased 6% primarily due to the cost increases noted above,
partially offset by the 23% increase in revenue.

QOperuting expenses

For the Years Ended December 314,

2006 2005
$ %% of Revenue s % of Revenue Increase
Sales and marketing ..........ccooeviiiciiicii, £ 3,227,263 56% $ 2,649,786 57% % 577477 22%
General and administrative 1.862.450 33 995,703 21 | 866747 87
Total operating exXpenses.........ccccooevvceevivernevennn. § 5,089,713 89% $ 3,645,489 8% $ 1,444,224 40%

The 22% increase in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 as comparcd to the same period in
2005 was primarily due to an increase in employee and employce-related costs assocmted with one addmolnal employee, general
salary increases and increased commission costs associated with our higher sales activity as well as higher travel expenses. Sales
and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue during the period decreased 1% due to the increase in revenue discussed above
substantially offset by the increase in employee and employee-related costs.

The 87% increase in general and administrative expenses related to the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the
same period in 20035 was primarily due to employee-related costs associated with the addition of four new employees, compliance
and recruiting costs as we increased staffing in all functional areas. General and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue
increased 12% substantially due to the cost increases noted above, partially offset by the 23% increase in revenue.

Other income (expense)

Interest expense increased approximately $357,000, or 376%, during the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the
same period in 2003 primarily due to eleven months of interest on the MCRC note in 2006 as compared 10 two months in 2005.
The increase in interest expense was substantially offset by an approximate $132,000 increase in interest{income earned on the
invested portion of the proceeds from our initial public offering in November 2006 and, 10 a lesser extent, proceeds from the
MCRC note. In addition, in connection with our initial public offering, we redeemed the MCRC note at face value resulting in
non-cash interest expense of approximately $221,000 due to the accelerated amortization of the balance of unamortized discount
related to warrant issuances.
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Income tax benefit

We recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $304,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 reflecting an expected
effective federal and state tax rate of 38% as we determined that it was more likely than not that a portion of our deferred tax
assets would be benefited against expected future income. At December 31, 2006, we had gross deferred tax assets of
approximately $1.7 million, against which a valuation allowance of approximately $639,000 had been applied. Gross deferred tax
tiabilities of approximately $266,000 were also applied against the net deferred tax asset. A valuation allowance was provided
against the tax benefit generated during this period due to uncertainty regarding the realization of the net operating loss in the
future.

We recorded an income tax benefit of $754,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 as we determined it was more likely
than not that a portion of our deferred tax assets would be benefited against future income.

Net income (loss}

We reported a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 of approximately $501,000 compared to net income of
approximately $1,047,000 in 2005, The net loss in 2006 versus net income in 2005 is primarily due to the increases in operating
expenses and net interest expense discussed above, which were partially offset by the 23% increase in revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2006 as compared to 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In November 20035, we received $2.0 million in exchange for a subordinated note with the MCRC, which bore interest at the
rate of 10% per annum, and required quarterly interest payments beginning on December 31, 2005. On December 4, 2006, we
exercised our option to redeem the MCRC note without premium as a result of the completion of our initial public offering. In
connection with the MCRC note redemption, MCRC exercised warrants to purchase 600,000 shares of our common stock. The
remaining warrants to purchase 2,400,000 shares of common stock did not vest and subsequently expired due 10 the successful
completion of our initial public offering on November 16, 2006. The net redemption amount was $1,795,000, including interest
earned through the date of redemption. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, interest expense related to the
subordinated debt was $437,000 and $29,444, respectively.

On November 16, 2006, we completed our initial public offering of 27,441,064 shares of common stock at a price of
CDNS$1.03 (approximately US$0.93) per share. The offering was comprised of 20,000,000 shares sold by us for gross proceeds to
us of CDN3$21,000,000 and 7,441,064 shares sold by certain selling stockholders for gross proceeds to such stockholders of
approximately CDN$7,800,000.

On December 5, 2006, we issued an additional 3,000,000 shares of common stock in accordance with an over-allotment option
granted to the underwriters of the initial public offering at a price of CDN$1.05 (approximately US$0.92) per share for gross
proceeds to the Company of CDN$3,150,000. Net proceeds to us from the initial public offering and over-allotment option were
approximately $17.5 million, net of offering costs of approximately $3.6 million. In addition, we granted the underwriters of the
initial public offering, warrants to purchase up to 1,150,000 shares of common stock at the public offering price. The warrants are
exercisable from the |-year anniversary of the warrant issuance (November 16" and December 5" for the over allotment) and
expire 18 months from that date (May 15, 2009 and June 4, 2009 for the over allotment). The warrants allow for net share
settlement and certain of the holders of these warrants have piggy-back registration rights.  We valued the warrants at $274,129
and recorded it as a component of additional paid-in capital.

At December 31, 2007, we had no commitments for material capital expenditures. We have identified and executed against a
number of strategic initiatives that we believe are key components of our future growth, including: expanding our community of
channel partners, energy consumers and energy suppliers on the exchange; strengthening and extending our long-term
relationships with government agencies; entry into other energy-related markets; wholesale transactions with utilittes and
emerging green credits market; making strategic acquisitions and growing our sales force. We believe that our current
management and financial resources are adequate to pursue these initiatives and to maintain our competitive position in both the
short and long term. During 2007 we increased our workforce to 63 from 20 at December 31, 2006, At December 31, 2007, we
had 29 professionals in our sales and marketing and account management groups, 22 in our supply desk group and 12 in our
general and administrative group. While we expect to hire additional professionals as the need and/or opportunities arise, we do
not expect to continue our expansion of the workforce at the same rate as 2007.
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Comparison of December 31, 2007 to December 31, 2006

December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 Increase/(Decrease)
Cash and cash equivalemts ... § 7,001,884 $ 17,483,886 $(10,48:2,002) (60Y%
Trade accounts receivable ......ocoeveiveeieieee e 1,878,233 1,702,798 175,435 10
Days sales outstancling ... oo cnieiicei e 56 95 | (39) (@b
Working capital ... 5,323,622 16,639,898 (11,316,276)  (68)
Stockholders’ equity......coccvcveveeiecrv e 16,859,799 17,945,002 (1,085,203y ( 6)

Cash and cash equivalents decreased 60%, primarily due to the acquisition of the EnergyGateway assets and the pre-tax
loss for the year. Trade accounts receivable increased 10% due to the acquisition of the EnergyGateway assets and the 59%
increase in revenue, both offset by an improvement in days sales outstanding. Days sales outstanding|decreased by 39 days
primarily due to the addition of EnergyGateway receivables, which are due net 15, the increase in wholesale transactions,
which are typically due net 30, and improved collection rates. Revenue from our energy suppliers rep'resenting greater than
10% of our revenue decreased from 51% from four energy suppliers to 32% from two energy suppliers for the year ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. This decrease was directly related to the addition of the EnergyGateway
customers.

Working capital (consisting of current assets less current liabilities) decreased approximately 68%, primarily due to the
decrease in cash and cash equivalenis resulting from the acquisition of the EnergyGateway assets and funding of the pre-tax
loss for the year. Stockholders® equity decreased 6% due to the net loss for the period substantially offset by the fair value
of the stock issued as part of the acquisition of EnergyGateway assets.

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2007 was approximately $4.6 mlillion due primarily to
the pre-tax loss for the period. Cash used in investing and financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2007 was
approximately $5.8 million, primarily due to the purchase of the EnergyGateway assets and, to a lesser extent, costs
incurred in software development and purchases of property and equipment.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was appr0x1mately $259 (00, due primarily
to increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses substantially offsel by an increase in accounts recewab]e the net loss
for the year and deferred taxes for the period. Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was
approximately $138,000, primarily due to the purchases of property and equipment and costs|incurred in software
development. Cash provided by financing activities for year ended December 31, 2006 was approxi mately $15.8 million,
primarily due to the net proceeds from our initial public offering and the issuance of warrants parlla]ly offset by the
retirement of long-term debt.

We have historically funded our operations with cash flow from operations and, when required, the issuance of various
debt and equity instruments. We have approximately $7.0 million of cash and cash equivalents and ng long term bank debt
as of December 31, 2007. We expect to continue to fund our operations from existing cash resources! operating cash flow
and, when required, the issuance of various debt and equity instruments. That notwithstanding, we expect that our cash and
cash equivalents on hand at December 31, 2007 will meet our working capital requirements at least to December 31, 2008.

Comparison of December 31, 2006 to December 31, 2005

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 Increase/(Decrease)
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENIS ........ocoveeieiecie e $ 17,483,886 § 1,584,066 515,899,820 1,004%
Trade accounts receivable ... 1,702,798 1,028,807 673,991 66
Days sales outstanding ......coooovriereeeinirsimn e 95 75 20 27
WOrKing Capital.....coocvicverierieir ettt bbb bbb 16,639,898 1,372,542 | 15,267,356 1,112
Stockholders’ equity (defiCit) . ....ooove e e e e 17,945,002 (938,883)] 18,883,885 N/A

Cash and cash equivalents increased approximately $15.9 million, or 1,004%, due primarily to net proceeds of $17.5 million
from our initial public offering in late 2006. This increase was partially offset by the redemption of the SZ 0 million MCRC note
in December 2006 and the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006. Trade accounts receivable increased 66%, due to the
increase in large government procurements. These procurements tend to have longer payment cycles due to:

+ added complexity and volume;

« the inclusion of various federal, state and local agencies that may be covered by the procurement (e.g. housing and prison
authorities);

= varied and extensive internal approval processes; and




» an additional party (e.g., the local utility) involved in the payment cycle.

To the extent we are awarded any large government procurements in the future, we expect to experience short term increases in
our trade accounts receivable. We believe that we have adequate working capital to account for these short term fluctuations and
that these accounts will not have a significant short-term impact on our future liquidity. We believe these receivables arc
collectible and the energy consumers and energy suppliers who are parties to these contracts are all large, credit worthy entities.

Working capital (consisting of current assets less current liabilities) increased approximately $15.3 million, or 1,112%,
primarily due to the increase in cash described above. Stockholders™ equity increased due to our initial public offering and, to a
lesser extent, the automatic conversion of Series A Preferred stock inte common stock concurrent with the offering, and the
exercise of warrants, These increases in stockholders’ equity were partially offset by the net loss for the year ended December 31,
2006.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $259,000, due primarily to
increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses substantially offset by accounts receivable, the net loss for the year and
deferred taxes for the period. Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately
$138,000, primarily due to the purchases of property and equipment and costs incurred in software development. Cash provided
by financing activities for year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $15.8 million, primarily due to the net proceeds
from our initial public offering and the issuance of warrants partially offset by the retirement of long-term debt.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately $171,000, primarily resulting
from net income for the period partially offsct by increases in deferred tax assets and working capital. Cash used in investing
activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approximately $80,000 primarily related to costs associated with software
development and, to a lesser extent, purchase of property and equipment. Cash provided by financing activities for year ended
December 31, 2005 was approximately $1.4 million primarily due to the MCRC note described above less the repayment of the
$500,000 line of credit.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The table below summarizes our gross contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2007,
As of December 31, 2007, we did not have any purchase obligations other than our capital and operating leases.

Payments Dug by Period

2013 and
Contractual Obligations 2008 2000 and 2000 2011 and 2012 Therealter Total
Capital 1aSES........ooveeeeeeereceeeerce et et $ 47223 § 47937 § 798 % — § 95958
Operating 1eases ...o.ccimvrvicvievvienevene s e rraresrearens 304,537 447,656 178.603 — 930,796
Total contractual obligations .......oocvveeiiieiisiinreen J351.760 5 495593 § 179401 % = 51,026,734

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“generally accepted accounting principles™) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

The most judgmental estimates affecting our consolidated financial statements are those relating to revenue recognition
and the estimate of actual energy purchased from the energy supplier and end user, or energy consumer, of such energy;
software development cosis; the fair value of our equity securities prior to our initial public offering when there was no
ready market for the purchase and sale of these shares; the valuation of intangible assets and goodwill; impairment of long-
lived assets; and estimates of future taxable income as it relates to the realization of our net deferred tax assets. We
regularly evaluate our estimates and assumptions based upon historical experience and various other factors that we believe
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. To the extent actual results differ from those
estimates, our future results of operations may be affected. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our
more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 2
of our consolidated financial statements filed herewith for a description of our accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

Retail Electricity Transactions

We receive a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through our online auction platform from each energy
supplier based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our
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commissions are not based on the retail price for electricity; rather, commissions are based on the energy usage generated
and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by our contractual cominission rate. Revenue
from commissions is recognized as earned on a monthly basis over the life of each contract as|energy is consumed,
provided there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable, collection of the related
receivable is reasonably assured, and customer acceptance criteria, if any, has been successfully demonstrated.

We record brokerage commissions based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for that accounting
period, or to the cxtent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity and gas delivered to

the energy consumers for that accounting period. We develop our estimates on a quarterly basis based on the following
criteria:

* Payments received prior to the issuance of the financial statements;
+ Usage updates from energy suppliers;

« Usage data from utilities;

» Comparable historical usage data; and

» Historical variances to previous estimates.

To the extent usage data cannot be obtained, we estimate revenue as follows:

» Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction;
» Geographic/utility usage patterns based on actual data received;
» Analysis of prior year usage patterns; and

« Specific review of individual energy supplier/location accounts.

In addition, we perform sensitivity analyses on this estimated data based on overall industry trends including prevailing
weather and usage data. Once the actual data is received, we adjust the estimated accounts receivable and revenue to the
actual total amount in the period during which the payment is received. Based on management’s current capacity to obtain
actual energy usage, we currently estimate 4 to 6 weeks of revenue at the end of our accoumiﬁg period. Differences
between estimated and actual revenue have been within management’s expectations and have not been material to date.

We generally do not directly invoice our electricity energy suppliers and, therefore, we report a substantial portion of our
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the
energy suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commlssmn rates and is made
up of two components. The first component represents energy usage for which we have recewed actual data from the
supplier and/or the utility but for which payment has not been received at the balance sheet dale The majority of our
contractual relationships with energy suppliers require them to supply actual usage data to us on a monthly basis and remit
payment to us based on that usage. The second component represents energy usage for which we have not received actual
data, but for which we have estimated usage. Commissions paid in advance by certain energy suppllers are recorded as
deferred revenue and amortized to commission revenue on a monthly basis on the energy exchanged that month.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary fee components to our retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees.
Transaction fees are billed to and pald by the energy supplier awarded business on the platfbrm| Transaction fees for
natural gas awards are established prior to award and are the same for each supplier, For the majonty of our natural gas
transactions, we bill the supplier upon the conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted
for the entire award term multiplied by the transaction fee. Management fees are paid by our energy consumers and are
generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on terms and conditions mcluded in contractual
arrangements. While substantially all of our retail natural gas transactions are accounted in accordance with this policy, a
certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and recognized as revenue in accordance
with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.
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Wholesale and Green Transactions

Substantially all wransaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues
are not tied to future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. TFor reverse auctions
where our customers bid for a consumer’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is
selling energy or credits, the fees are typically paid by the lister. In addition, revenue may not be recognized on certain
green transactions until the credits being auctioned have been verified. While substantially all wholesale and green
transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage is accounted for as the wholesale electricity or gas is
delivered similar to the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.

Channel Partner Commissions

We pay commissions to our channel partners at contractual rates based on monthly energy transactions belween energy
suppliers and energy consumers. The commission is accrued monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as
revenue is recognized. We pay commissions to our salespeople at contractual commission rates based upon cash collections
from our customers.

Revenue Estimation

Our estimates in relation to revenue recognition affect revenue and sales and marketing expense as reflected on our
staternents of operations, and trade accounts receivable and accrued commissions accounts as reflected on our balance
sheets. For any quarterly reporting period, we may not have actual usage data for certain energy suppliers and will need to
estimate revenue. We record revenue based on the energy consumers’ historical usage profile. At the end of each reporting
period, we adjust historical revenue to reflect actual usage for the period. For the year ended December 31, 2007, we
estimated usage for approximately 10% of our revenue resulting in an approximate 0.4%, or $35,179, adjustment. This
increase in revenue, which is based on adjusted year to date revenue for the quarter, resulted in an approximate 0.1%
reduction in sales and marketing expense related to third party commission expense associated with those revenues.
Corresponding adjustments were made to unbilled accounts receivable and acerued commissions, respectively. A 1%
difference between this estimate and actual usage would have an approximate $9,000 effect on our revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2007.

Software Development

Certain acquired software and significant enhancements to our sofiware are recorded in accordance with Statement of Pesition
(“SOP”} 98-1, “Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. Accordingly, internally
developed software costs of approximately $469,000, $66,000, and $54,000 related to implementation, coding and configuration
have been capitalized in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. We amortize internally developed and purchased software over the
estimated useful life of the sofiware (generally three years). Accordingly, during 2007, 2006, and 2005, approximately $111,000,
$73,000, and $55,000, respectively, were amortized to cost of revenues resulting in accumulated amortization of approximately
$273,000, $162,000, and $89,000 at December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2003, respectively.

Our estimates for capitalization of software development costs affect cost of revenue and capitalized software as
reflected on our consolidated statements of operations and on our consolidated balance sheets. During the year ended
December 31, 2007, we capitalized approximately $469,000, or 2.3% of our total assets. Amortization expense related to
capitalized software for the year ended December 31, 2007 was approximately 3.8% of cost of revenue. To the extent the
carrying amount of the capitalized software costs may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no
longer appropriate, we may need to record an impairment {non-cash) charge and write-off a portien or all of the capitalized
software balance on the balance sheet.

Goodwill

We use assumptions in establishing the carrying value and fair value of our goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of
the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of acquired businesses. We account for goodwill that results
from acquired businesses in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets having indefinite
lives are not amortized but instead are assigned to reporting units and tested for impairment annuaily or more frequently if
changes in circumstances or the occurrence of events indicate possible impairment.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, we perform an annual impairment test for goodwill. The impairment test for goodwill is a

two-step process. Step one consists of a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including
the goodwill allocated to each reporting unit. If the carrying amount is in excess of the fair value, step two requires the
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comparison of the implied fair value of the reporting unit whereby the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill
over the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill will be recorded as an impairment loss. There was no
impairment of goodwill in the year ended December 31, 2007. Future events could cause management to conclude that
impairment indicators exist and that goodwill of previously acquired businesses is impaired. Any telated impairment loss
could have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Intangible Assets

We use assumptions in establishing the carrying value, fair value and estimated lives of our intangible assets. The
criteria used for these assumptions include management’s estimate of the assets continuing ability to generate positive
income from opcrations and positive cash flow in future periods compared to the carrying value of the asset, as well as the
strategic significance of any identifiable intangible asset in cur business objectives. If assets are considered impaired, the
impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair va]u'le of the assets. Useful
lives and related amortization expense are based on our estimate of the period that the assets will generate revemies or
otherwise be used by us. Factors that would influence the likelihood of a material change in our r'eported results include
significant changes in the asset’s ability to generate positive cash flow, a significant decline|in the economic and
competitive environment on which the asset depends and significant changes in our strategic business objectives.

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and contracts, purchased technology and other intangibles, and are
stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets with a definite life are amortized using the straight-line
method aver their estimated useful lives, which range from one to ten years.

Impairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “dccounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ", we periodically
review long-lived assets and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no longer appropriate.
Recoverability of these assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to
which the assets relate to the carrying amount. There was no impairment of intangible assets in the|year ended December
31,2007,

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxe‘s "(“SFAS No. 1097).
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based on the future tax consequences that can be
attributed to net operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
the existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or cred]tsI are based on changes
in the asset or liability from period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available
evidence, it is mare likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Irealszauon of deferred
tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. In determining the valuation allowance we consider
past performance expected future taxable income, and qualitative factors which we consider to be appropnate in estimating
future taxable income. Our forecast of expected future taxable income is for future periods thlat can be reasonably
estimated. We have historically utilized a three year forecasting window to determine our expected future taxable income.
As of December 31, 2006, we had cumulative net income for the three years then ended and the ey&(pectcd future taxable
income anticipated from 2007 through 2009 was deemed adequate on a present value basis to benefit the majority of our
deferred tax assets {primarily net operating loss carryforwards). During 2007, we accelerated our gr:owth in excess of our
initial expectations to address the strategic initiatives outlined at the time of our initial public offermg We grew from 20
employees as of December 31, 2006 to 63 as of December 31, 2007, acquired one of our main compemors in the retail
energy market, and developed our wholesale and enwronmental commodity product lines. These initiatives increased our
loss for 2007 resulting in a three-year cumulative loss as of December 31, 2007 and increased ou'r near term operating
expenses. A three-year cumulative loss is significant negative evidence in conqldcrmg whether the c!leferred lax assets are
realizable and generally precludes relying on projections of future taxable income to support the recovery of deferred 1ax assets.
While we expect our future income will be adequate on a present value basis to benefit substantially all of our current
deferred tax assets, the recent three-year cumulative loss is given more weight than projectedif‘uture income when
determining the need for a valuation. Therefore, during the fourth quarter of 2007, we recorded a full valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets of approximately $4.1 million, and maintain a cumulative valuation atlowance of approximately
$4.7 million at December 31, 2007,

Our estimates in relation to income taxes affect income tax benefit and deferred tax assets as reflected on our statements

of operations and balance sheets, respectively. The deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation aliowance if it is more
likely than not that the tax benefits will not be realized in the near term. As of December 31, 20071, we had deferred tax
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assets of approximately $4.7 million against which a full valuation allowance has been established. To the extent we
determine that it is more likely than not that we will recover all of our deferred tax assets, it could result in an approximate
34.7 million non-cash tax benefit.

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards (“FASB”™) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes” (“FIN 48™), on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an
enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109, FIN 48 prescribes a two-step process to determine the
amount of tax benefit 1o recognize. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be
sustained upon examination by a tax authority. If the tax position is deemed “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained, the tax
position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the
benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement. 1f the tax position does not meet the “more-likely-than-not” threshold, then it is not recognized in the
financial statements, As of our adoption date of January 1, 2007, and also at December 31, 2007, FIN 48 did not have a
material timpact on our financial position or results of operations.

We have reviewed the tax positions taken, or to be taken, in our tax returns for all tax years currently open to examination
by the taxing authorities in accordance with the recognition and measurement standards of FIN 48. At December 31, 2007,
there is no expected material, aggregate tax effect as a result of differences between tax return positions and the benefits
recognized in our financial statements.

Share-Based Compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), we recognize the compensation cost of share-based awards on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period of the award. In 2007, share-based awards consisted of grants of stock options and
restricted stock. The restrictions on the restricted stock lapse over the vesting period. The vesting period of restricted stock
is determined by the Board of Directors, and is generally four years for employees.

The per-share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
was 50.58 and $0.36, respectively, on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions and estimated forfeiture rates of 13% in 2007 and 2006, respectively:

Year ended Expected Risk Expected Expected

December 31, Dividend Yield Interest Rate Option Life Volatility
2007 — 4.66% 4.61 years 54%
2006 - 4.66% 4.75 years 48%

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method
prescribed in APB 25 and related interpretations. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is measured on
the date of grant as the difference between the deemed fair value of the company’s common stock and the option exercise
price multiplied by the number of options granted. We provided the disclosures as required by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting
Jor Stock-Based Compensation and Disclosure, an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 1237

A summary of options outstanding and options exercisable as of December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Options Cutstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Range of Remaining Aggregate Number Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Of Shares Contractual Intrinsic
Prices Options Life Value Exercisable Life Value
$0.02-50.23 ... 2,651,029 2.82 Years $ 2,081,058 2,646,029 2.82 Years $ 2,077,133
$0.24-%1.12 ... 1,612,000 4.78 Years 391,300 670,625 4.87 Years 229,263
$1.13-31.34 ... 2,440,000 6.36 Years — 30,000 5.96 Years —

6,703,029 4.38 Years $ 2,472,358 3,346,634 3.26 Years $ 2,306,396

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value of our outstanding options and exercisable
options as of December 31, 2007. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2007
was approximately $126,000.

A summary of restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2007 is as follows:




Weighted Average

Shares Grant Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 — 5 —
Granted 1,928,500 $1.13
Cancelled (80,000) $1.21
Vested (400,000) $1.21
Unvested at December 31, 2007 1,448,500 $1.10

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Beard (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141 (rev sed 2007), “Business
Combinations " (“SFAS No. 141(R)"). SFAS No. 141(R) requires an acquiring entity in a business combmat10n to recognize all
(and only) the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction; establishes the acquisition- -date fair value as the
measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and requires the acquirer to disclosete investors and other
users all of the information they need to evaluate and understand the nature and financial effect of the business combination.
SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We expect to adopt{SFAS No. 141(R) on
January 1, 2009,

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements " (“SFAS
No. 160™). SFAS No. 160 clarifies that a noncontrolling or minority interest in a subsidiary is considered an ownership interest
and, accordingly, requires all entities to report such interests in subsidiaries as equity in the consolidated financial statements.
SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We expect to adopt SFAS|No. 160 on January 1,
2009.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. IIS’/"'). This standard
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. This pronouncement applies to other
accounting standards that require or permit fair value measurements. Accordingly, this statement does not require any new
fair value measurement. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods
within those fiscal years. In December of 2007, the FASB agreed to a one year deferral of SFAS| No. 157’s fair value
measurement requirements for nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are not required or permitted to be measured at fair
value on a recurring basis. Management is currently evaluating the requirements of SFAS No. 157, but does not expect it 10
have a material impact on our 2008 consolidated financial statements. ‘

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial lAssets and Financial
Liabilities” (“SFAS No. 1597). SFAS No. 159 allows entities the option to measure eligible financial instruments at fair
value as of specified dates. Such election, which may be applied on an instrument by instrumt::nt basis, is typically
irrevocable once elected. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 13, 2007. We adopted
SFAS No. 159 on January 1, 2008, but have not yet elected the fair value option for any items permitted under
SFAS No. 159,

Seasonality

Our revenue is subject to seasonality and fluctuations during the year primarily as a result of weather conditions and its
impact on the demand for energy. Our revenue is generated from the commissions we receive under any given energy
contract, which is tied to the energy consumer’s consumption of energy. Therefore, revenue from na‘lural gas consumption
tends to be strongest during the winter months due to the increase in heatlng usage, and revenue from electncn(y
consumption tends to be strongest during the summer months due to the increase in air condmonmg usage. Our revenue is
also subject to fluctuations within any given season, depending on the severity of weather conditions — during a

particularly cold winter or an unseasonably warm summer, energy consumption will rise.
Cyclicality

We believe that our business will be cyclical in nature and is tied, in part, to market energy prices which impact
transaction volume. When energy prices increase in competittve markets above the price levels ofjthe regulated utilities,
energy consumers are less likely to lock-in to higher fixed price contracts in the competitive markets and so they are less
likely to use our auction platform. Conversely, when energy prices decrease tn competitive markets below the price levels
of the regulated utilities, energy consumers are more likely to lock-in to lower fixed price contracts in the competitive
markets and so they are more likely to use our auction platform. Although our short term revenue is impacted by usage
trends, these cyclical effects will also have longer term implications on our business because we derive future revenue from
current auctions.




Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risk

Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as foreign currency rates,
interest rates, and other relevant market rates or price changes. In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to
market risk resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and we regularly evaluate our exposure to such
changes. Our overall risk management strategy seeks to balance the magnitude of the exposure and the costs and
availability of appropriate financial instruments.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

Historically, our business has not been materially impacted by inflation. We provide our service at the inception of the
service contract between the energy supplier and energy consumer. Our fee is set as a fixed dollar amount per unit of
measure and fluctuates with changes in energy demand over the contract period.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

Our commission revenue is primarily denominated in U.S. dollars. Therefore, we are not directly affected by foreign
exchange fluctuations on our current orders. However, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates do have an effect on energy
consumers’ access to U.S. dollars and on pricing competition. We have entered into non-U.S. dollar contracts but they
have not had a material impact on our operations. We do not believe that foreign exchange fluctuations will materially
affect our results of cperations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements listed in Item 15(a) are incorporated herein by reference and are filed as a part of this
report and follow the signature pages to this Annual Report on Form 10-K on page 42.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the
Company carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management,
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2007. 1n designing and evaluating the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures, the Company and its management recognize that there are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any
system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding
of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide
reasonable assurance of achieving their desired control objectives, Additionally, in evaluating and implementing possible
controls and procedures, the Company’s management was required to apply its reasonable judgment. Based upon the
required evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of December 31, 2007,
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules
and forms.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

a) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Qur management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the
Company, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal
contro! over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate, Our management assessed the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, the Company’s management
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO} in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework.
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Management has excluded the assets and business lines of EnergyGateway from its assessment of intemal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 because the assets of this entity were acquired by the Company in 2007. The
EnergyGateway assets represent 5% of our consolidated total assets and 20% of consolidated revenue as of and for the year

ended December 31, 2007.

Based on this assessment, our management believes that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial
reporting is effective based on those criteria.

Qur independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on our management’s assessment of our
internal control over financial reporting. This report appears below.
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b) Attestation Report of the independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
World Energy Solutions, Inc.
Worcester, Massachusetts

We have audited World Energy Solutions, Inc.’s (“the Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in futernal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0O). The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of intemal control
over financial reporting, included in Part 11, ltem 9A of this Form 10-K. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
detertorate,

In our opinion, World Energy Solutions, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, bascd on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States), the consolidated balance sheet of World Energy Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2007, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders® equity (deficit) and cash flows for the year then ended, and our report
dated March 12, 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements,

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded Energy
Gateway LLC from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, which is included
in the 2007 consclidated financial statements of World Energy Solutions, Inc. and constituted 5% of the consolidated assets
and 20% of the consolidated revenue as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007, Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting of World Energy Solutions, Inc. also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial
reporting of Energy Gateway LLC.

/S/ UHY LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 12, 2008
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¢) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the fiscal quarter ended Declzmber 31, 2007 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.

|
‘ PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required to be disclosed by this item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to the|Company’s definitive
proxy statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days of the close of its fiscal year.

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics applicable to all of our directors and employees. The code of
business conduct and ethics is available on the corporate governance section of “Investor Relations” of our website
www.worldenergy.com.

Any waiver of the code of business conduct and ethics {or directors or executive officers, or any amendment to the code
that applies to directors or executive officers, may only be made by the board of directors. We intend w0 satisfy the disclosure
requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this code of ethics by
posting such information on our website, at the address and location specified above. To date, no such waivers have been
requested or granted.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required to be disclosed by this item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive
proxy statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days afier the close of its fiscal year.

Item 12. Security Qwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The infermation required to be disclosed by this item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive
proxy statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required to be disclosed by this item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference te the Company’s definitive
proxy statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required to be disclosed by this item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive
proxy statement to be filed by the Company within 120 days after the close of its fiscal year.
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PART 1Y
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements

For a tist of the financial information included herein, see “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” on page 41 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

{a)(2) Financial Statements Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the financial statements or
notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits

The list of exhibits filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is set forth on the Exhibit Index immediately preceding
the exhibits hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registramt caused this report to be signed on its behalf by

the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By: _/s/ Richard Domaleski
Richard Domaleski
Chief Executive Officer

March 13, 2008

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the

registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title
/s/ Richard Domaleski Chief Executive Officer and Director

Richard Domaleski

/s/ James Parslow Chief Financial Officer
James Parslow

/s/ Edward Libbey Chairman of the Beoard and Director
Edward Libbey

/s/ Patrick Bischoff Directot
Patrick Bischoff

/s! John Wellard Director
John Wellard

/s/ Thad Wolle Director
Thad Wolfe

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED WITH REPORTS FILED PURSUANT
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT BY REGISTRANTS WHICH HAVE NOT REGISTERED SECURITI
SECTION 12 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

No annual report to security holders covering the Company’s prior fiscal year or proxy materiais

Date

March 13, 2008

March 13, 2008

March 13, 2008

March 13, 2008

March 13, 2008

March 13, 2008

[TO SECTION 15(d)
ES PURSUANT TO

have been furnished to

security holders which have not been furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company will furnish to

the Securities and Exchange Commission any annual report to security holders covering the Com
and any proxy materials to be furnished to security holders subsequent to the filing of this annual rep
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ..o
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

Consolidated Balance Sheets for World Energy Solutions, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006...
Consolidated Statements of Operations for World Energy Solutions, Inc. for lhe years ended December 31, 2007 2(!06 and 2005

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for World Energy Solutions, Inc. for the years ended Deuember 31, 2007,
2006 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for World Energy Solutions, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.......
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
World Energy Solutions, Inc,
Worcester, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the “Compa
and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders” equity (deficit), and cash flows fo
period ended December 31, 2007, These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We cenducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures i
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

ny”) as of December 31, 2007
r each of the three years in the
ment. Our responsibility is to

Board (United States). Those
statements are free of material
n the financial statements. An
well as evaluating the overall

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial

position of World Energy Solutions, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the consolidated results of t
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting princi
United States of America.

he|r operations and their cash
ples generally accepted in the

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of

Financial Accounting Standard No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting QOversight Board (United States), the

effectiveness of World Energy Selutions, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations

31, 2007, based on criteria
of the Treadway Commission

(COS0), and our report dated March 12, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting.

/S/ UHY LLP

Boston, Massachusetls
March 12, 2008
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WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Becember 31,
2007 2006
ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ..o e e $  7.001,884 § 17,483,886
Trade accounts receivable, ncl . 1,878,233 1,702,798
Prepaid expenses and other current asses.......... 338,049 211.749

Total current assets.. 9,218,166 19,398,433
Property and equipment, net ............................................................................. 595,950 215,932
Capitalized software, net 463,888 103,296
Intangibles, net .................. 7,316,916 —
GOOAWIL. .ot crirer st a et s s e s s e s e e e nm s ese e emnebasmnasetonnens 3,178,701 —_
Deferred taxes and other ASSE1S. ... .oocvoiieriiriciiiei ettt re e 26,944 1,061,720

TOLA] BSSOLS ....cvvvrervescetrerersresns e seranssveses e erasesenassseesssasesemsesans sesesesaeaccnsas 520,800,565 §_20.79],38]

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

ACCOUNLS PAYADIE. ..o re s s e e $ 980,488 M) 848,518
Accrued commissions....... 712,919 1,021,433
Accrued compensation 1,516,418 304,330
ACCTUEH EXPENISES oottt s e e naeas 279,162 232,587
Deferred revenue and CUStOMET 8AVANCES..c....vvvviveivriirsie e e e essessessrneeses 363,933 265,408
Capital lease obligations..........c.oocooeiiiiiiie. 41.624 56.259

Total current AabIlIHeS .. ..ottt eme e 3,894 544 2,758,535
Capital lease obligations, net of CUITENL POMEON ...ovvvivereivevereenriess s sevncseennns 46,222 87.844

Total Habilities. .....c.oooeieeieeeiee ettt en e eae e 3.940.766 2,846,379
Commitments (Note 9)
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued

or outstanding.... — —
Common stock, SO 0001 par va]ue 150 000 000 shares authonzed 82 399 241

and 76,511,741 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006,

TESPRCIIVEIY Lot ettt ea e 8,240 7,651
Additional paid-in capital .... 29,704,831 22,148,718
Accumulated deficit............. {12,853,272) (4.211,367)
Total stockholders’ equity ..... 16,839.799 17,945,002

Total liabilities and stockholders equny $_20,800,565 S 20,791,381

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated {inancial statements.

43



WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenue:
Brokerage commissions and transaction fees.............
Management feCs........coovnerninirnrereersne s
Total TEVENUE ...covvvieieicee e
Cost 0f FEVENUEL .o
Gross Profit ..o
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing .........ocoveoeneecniccineec e
General and administrative ...,
Total costs and expenses
Operating income (JOSS) ..o..ovoovoriecieeeie e
Interest income (expense):
Interest iNCOIME ..o e
INtErESt EXPENSE ..ovviriieirircmricreec e
Total interest income (expense), Net.........cccoeeeeneneee
Income (loss) before income taxes ...,
Income tax (expense) benefit ..o
Net income (loss)....
Accretion of prefcrred stock issuance costs
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders

Earnings (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) per voting commeon share — basic

Net income (loss) per non-voting common share — basic
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders — diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic:
Voting common SOCK ...
Non-voting common Stock .......covivvvircvcrecrininnen

Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted.........

Years Ended December 31,

2007

2006

2005

§ 8,401,791

$ 5762,098 % | 4,673,987

786,474 1,000 -~
9,188,265 5,763,008 4,673,987
2,874,678 1,166,426 648.410
6,313,587 4,596,672 4,025,577
8,598,256 3,227,263 2,649,786
5.858.810 1.862.450 995,703
14.457.066 5.089.713 3,645,489
(8.143.479) (493.041) 380,088

573,395 139,617 8,004

(10.101) (451.897) (94,842)

563.294 (312.280) (86.338)
(7.580,185) (805,321) 293,250
(1.061,720) 304,228 754,000
(8,641,905) (501,093) i 1,047,250

— 6299 _ ! (7199

§__ (8,641,905 507,392) S_1 1,040,051
$ ©0.11) § (0.01) S 0.02
$ — 3 — 5 0.02
$ (01 $ (0.01) S 0.02
79,793,590 45,576,477 33,049,472
— — 6.778.327
79,793,590 45,576,477 39,827,799
79,793,590 45,576,477 54,506,566

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2004
Exercise of stock options.....
Accretion of stock issuance cosis
Issuance of warrants in connection with long-
term debt..
Net income.....
Balance, December 31, 200
Exercise of stock options.....
Common stock warrants exercised .
Issuance of commaon stock in connection with
initial public offering, net of $3.6 million of’
offering casts ...
Issuance of warrants in connection with initia
public offering
Conversion of Non-Voting Commoen Stock o
Voting Common Stock in connection with
initia) public offering .
Conversion of Series A e crtible
Preferred Stock in connection with initial public
ofTering
Accretion of stock issuance costs ...
Share-based compensation
Purchase of treasury stock ..
Retirement of treasury stock
Net loss
Balance, December 31, 2006
Share-based compensation ..
Issuance of common stock in connection with
acquisition of EnergyGateway _......coeeerecrereees
Issuance of common stock in connection with
restricted stock grant .oceeccceenees
Reversal of issuance cosis related to initial public
affering of common stock .,
Exercise of stock options..,
Net loss ..
Balance. December 3t, 2007 ..o

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005

Non-Voting Voting
Comman Stock Common Steck Treasury Stock Additional Total
Number of 50,0001 Number of 30,0001 Number of Stated at Paid-in Accumulated  Stockholders'
Shares Par Value Shares Bar Vatue Shares Cost Capleal Deficit Equity (Deficit)
6,553,115 655 33,724,819 3372 675,346 (151,953) 2,664,316 (4,757.524) (2,241,134
240,600 24 —-— — — — 5,976 — 6,

— — — — — — (7.199) — (7.199)

— — — — —_ — 256,200 — 256,200

— — — — — — — 1,047,250 1,047,250
6,792,135 679 33,724,819 33n 675,346 {151,953) 2,919,293 (3,710,274} (938,883)
2,190,671 29 —_ —_ —_ _— 56,698 — 56,917
— — 1,070,958 107 — —_ 253,008 — 253,205

—_ —_ 23,000,000 2,300 —_ —_ 17,264,968 — 17,267,268

— — — — — — 274,129 — 274,126

(8,982,806) (898) 8,982,806 898 — — - — —_

— — 10,433,504 1,044 — — 1,506,953 — 1,507,997
— — — — — — 6,299) — (6,299)

— — —_ — — —_ 44,261 — 44,261
—_ — — — 25,000 {12,500) — — (12,500)

— — {700.,346) (7Q) (700.346) 164,453 {164,383) — —
— — - — — e — (501,093 {501,063y

_ — 76,511,741 7,651 — _ 22.148,718 {4,211,367) 17,945,002

— — — — — — 982,190 — 982,190

— — 3,375,000 538 — — 6,522,694 e 6,523,232

—_ —_ 400,000 40 —_ — (40} — —_

— — — — — -_ 48,468 — 48,468

— — 112,500 11 — —_ 2,301 — 2,812
— — — — — — — (8.641,903) {8,641,905)

= § — 82,399,241 240 = & ____— 5 2970483 S_(12.85327)) § 16.859.799

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC,

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
NEUINCOME ([085) vuvretrue e ree et ree ettt
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ... s
Deferred taxes ... e
Share-based compensation
ACCrEtion Of Warrants.......ooovevevriee e
Changes in operating assets and liabilities , net of the effects of
acquisition:
Trade accounts receivable ...,
Prepaid expenses and other assets ...
Accounts payable. ..o
Accrued COMMISSIONS 1..iire e et
Accrued COMPENSALION ......o.cvoer e e
Accrited EXPENSES. ....ooiv ittt e ens
Deferred revenue and customer advances...........oocveveinn
Net cash provided by (used in} operating activities ..........
Cash flows from investing activitics:
Costs incurred in software development ...
Net cash paid in acquisition of EnergyGateway, net of cash
ACQUITED ..ot s
Purchases of property and equipment ...,
Net cash used in investing activities ...
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options ...
Proceeds from exercise of stock warrants ..........occovrvvrvenicene
Proceeds from initial public offering of common stock, net of
offering costs of $3.6 million
Retirement of long-term debt ...,
Principal payments on line of credit......cooovivininiinnes
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt ...
Principal paymenis on capital lease obligations...................
Principal payments on guaranteed return ......ooovvevverenr e
Purchase of treasury stock. ...,
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ............
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents...........
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year......oooviinnnn,
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year.......c.covvvienrivecen,

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Net cash received (paid) for interest......oocooviiiiiiiicicnn.
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property and equipment acquired through capital lease obligations
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fair value of common stock issued in acquisition of EnergyGateway
Reversal of accrued expenses related to initial public offering
of cOMMON S1OCK ..o
Conversion of series A preferred stock to common stock ........
Conversion of non-voting common stock to common stock ...
Issuance of warrants in connection with initial public offering of
COMMON SOCK ..ot
Issuance of warrants in connection with debt offering .............

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2007

2006

2005

S (8,641,905)

S (501,093)

$ 1,047,250

1,028,497 135,446 105,831
1,061,720 (307.720) (754,000)
982,190 44,261 —
— 252,000 4200
17,590 (673,991) (479,903}
(133,377) (106,798) (47.451)
80,491 690,908 (42,041)
(308,514) 156,540 496,035
1,212,088 193,330 68,507
33,762 210,578 38,009
68,525 165,668 (265.216)
(4.598.,933) 259.129 171,221
(469,171) (65,652) (54,375)
(4,904,358) _ —
(456,095) {72,061} (25374
(5,829.624) {137.713) (79.749)
2,812 56,917 6,000
— 253,205 —
— 17,541,397 —
— (2,000,000 —
— — (500,000)
— — 2,000,000
(56,257) (50,092) (48.733)
— (10,523) (14.062)
- = {12,500) —
{53.445) 15,778.404 1,443,205
{10,482,002) 15,899,820 1,534,677
17,483,886 1,584,066 49.3189
§ 7,001,884 $ 17,483,886 3 1,584,066
$ 612,303 §..(129,401) (% {94,842}
s — $ 12,943 by 56,205
£ 6,536,000 g — g —
§ 48468 $ — |3 _
§  — §_ 1,507,997 $ —
by — $ 898 $ —
- $. 274,129 |$ —
s§ . — § o — 1§ _256,200




WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
NOTE 1 — NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

World Energy Selutions, Inc. (“World Energy” or the “Company™) was incorporated in 1999 as a Delaware corporation and is focused in
one operating segment — brokering energy and environmental commodities utilizing online auction platforms. The Company commenced
operations through an entity named Oceanside Energy, Inc. (“Oceanside™), which was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on
September 3, 1996. We incorporated World Energy Solutions, Inc. under the laws of the State of Delaware under the name “World Energy
Exchange, Inc.” on June 22, 1999 and on October 31, 1999, Oceanside became a wholly-owned subsidiary of World Energy Solutions, Inc..
Qceanside was subsequently dissolved on May 18, 2006, On December 15, 2006 the Company established World Energy Securities Corp., a
Massachusetts Securities Corporation, as a wholly-owned subsidiary.

World Energy is an energy and environmental commodities brokerage company that has developed online auction platforms, the World
Energy Exchange and the World Gieen Exchange. On the World Energy Exchange, retail energy consumers {(commercial, industrial and
government) and wholesale energy participants {utilities and retail suppliers) in the United States are able to negotiate for the purchase or sale
of electricity and other energy resources from competing energy suppliers which have agreed to participate on our auction platform in a given
auction. Although the Company’s primary source of revenue is from brokering electricity and natural gas, the Company adapted its World
Energy Exchange auction platform to accommodate the brokering of green power in 2003 (i.e., electricity generated by renewable resources),
wholesale electricity in 2004 and certain other energy-related products in 2005. In 2007, the Company created the World Green Exchange
based on the World Energy Exchange technology and business process. On the World Green Exchange, buyers and sellers negotiate for the
purchase or sale of environmental commodities such as Renewable Energy Certificates, Verified Emissions Reductions and Certified
Emissions Reductions.

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed its initial public offering of common stock, including the exercise by the
underwriters of an over-allotment option on December 5, 2006, for the sale of 23,000,000 shares of common stock resulting in net
proceeds to the Company of approximately $17.5 million (net of offering costs of approximately $3.6 millicn}.

On June 1, 2007, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of EG Partners, LLC, formerly known as EnergyGateway
LLC (“EnergyGateway™), for $4,951,758 in cash and 5,375,000 common shares of World Energy plus the assumption of certain
liabilities. The EnergyGateway operations are included in these financial statements from June 1, 2007. See Note 10 for further
discussion of this acquisition.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include its wholly-owned subsidiary World Energy Securities Corp. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
{*generally accepted accounting principles”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company's most judgmental estimates affecting the consolidated financial statements are those relating to revenue recognition and
the estimate of actual energy purchased from the energy supplier and end user, or energy consumer, of such energy; software
development costs; the fair value of equity securities prior to the Company’s initial public offering when there was no ready market for
the purchase and sale of these shares; the valuation of intangible assets and goodwill; impairment of long-lived assets; and estimates of
future taxable income as it relates to the realization of net deferred tax assets. The Company regularly evaluates its estimates and
assumptions based upon historical experience and various other factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
resuits of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. To the extent actual results differ from those estimates, future results of operations may be affected. The Company
believes the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue through commissions on sales of energy usage transacted on the Company’s online auction platform. The
Company recognizes revenues in accordance with the United States Securities and Exchange Commissio:n’s (“SEC™) Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (“SAB 104™). SAB 104 requires that four basic criteria must be met before revenue can be recognized:
(1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) the service has been rendered; (3) the fee is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectibility is
reasonably assured.

The Company participates in four primary markets: retail electricity, retail natural gas, wholesale energy and environmental commaodities.
Prior to the June 1, 2007 acquisition of substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway, the Company primarily received revenue from the
brokering of eiectncnty on the World Energy Exchange, utilizing reverse auction technology (“retail electricity transactions”) While
EnergyGateway also utilized an online auction format, its primary focus was on the brokering of natural gas and its “post and bid"”
methodology (“retail natural gas transactions™). In addition, the Company adapted the World Energy Exchange’to conduct reverse and forward
online auctions for the wholesale electricity and natural gas markets and recently conducted several green credit auctions (“wholesale and
green transactions™), The revenue recognition policy and related third party commissions for each of these products is more fully described
below.

Retail Electricity Transactions

The Company receives a monthly commission on energy sales contracted through its online auction platform from each energy
supplier based on the energy usage generated and transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer. The Company’s
commissions are not based on the retail price for electricity; rather, commissions are based on the'energy usage generated and
transacted between the energy supplier and energy consumer multiplied by the contractual commission rate. Revenue from
commissions is recognized as earned on a monthly basis over the life of each contract as energy is{consumed, provided there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable, collection of the related receivable is reasonably
assured, and customer acceptance criteria, if any, has been successfully demonstrated.

The Company records brokerage commissions based on actual usage data obtained from the energy supplier for that accounting
period, or to the extent actual usage data is not available, based on the estimated amount of electricity delivered to the energy
consumers for that accounting period. The Company’s estimates are developed on a quarterly basis based on the following criteria:

» Payments received prior to the 1ssuance of the financial statements;
= Usage updates from energy suppliers;

+ Usage data from utilities;

* Comparable historical usage data; and

» Historical vartances to previous estimates.

To the extent usage data cannot be obtained, revenue is estimated as follows:

* Historical usage data obtained from the energy consumer in conjunction with the execution of the auction;,
» Geographic/utility usage patterns based on actual data received;
« Analysis of prior year usage patterns; and

« Specific review of individual energy supplier/location accounts.

In addition, the Company perforims sensitivity analyses on this estimated data based on overall indust:y trends including prevaiting
weather and usage data. Once the actual data is received, estimated accounts receivable and revenue lS adjusted to the actual total
amount in the period during which the payment is received. Based on management’s current capacity to obtam actual energy usage, the
Company currently estimates 4 1o 6 weeks of revenue at the end of its accounting period. Differences between estimated and actual
revenue have been within management’s expectations and have not been material to date.

The Company generally does not directly invoice its electricity energy suppliers and, therefore, reports a substantial portion of its
receivables as “unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of enlergy provided by the energy
suppliers to the energy consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission fates and is made up of two
components. The first component represents energy usage for which actual data has been received from|the supplier and/or the utility
but for which payment has not been received at the balance sheet date. The majority of the Company’s contractual relationships with
energy suppliers require that the suppliers provide the Company with actual usage data on a monthly baSlS and remit payment based on
that usage. The second component represents energy usage for which the Company has not received actual data, but for which it has
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estimated usage. Commissions paid in advance by certain energy suppliers are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized to
commission revenue on a monthly basis on the energy exchanged that month.

Retail Natural Gas Transactions

There are two primary components related to retail natural gas services - transaction fees and management fees. Transaction fees are
billed to and paid by the energy supplier awarded business on the platform. Transaction fees for natural gas awards are established
prior to award and are the same for each supplier. For the majority of natural gas transactions, the Company bills the supplier upon the
conclusion of the transaction based on the estimated energy volume transacted for the entire award term multiplied by the transaction
fee. Management fees are paid by the energy consumers and are generally billed on a monthly basis for services rendered based on
terms and conditions included in contractual arrangements. While substantially all retail natural gas transactions are accounted for in
accordance with this policy, a certain percentage is accounted for as the natural gas is consumed by the customer and recognized as
revenue in accordance with the retail electricity transaction revenue recognition methodology described above.

Wholesale and Green Transactions

Substantially all transaction fees are invoiced upon the conclusion of the auction based on a fixed fee. These revenues are not tied to
future energy usage and are recognized upon the completion of the online auction. For reverse auctions where customers bid for a
consurner’s business, the fees are paid by the bidder. For forward auctions where a lister is selling energy or credits, the fees are
typically paid by the lister. In addition, revenue may not be recognized on certain green transactions until the credits being auctioned
have been verified. While substantially all wholesale and green transactions are accounted for in this fashion, a small percentage is
accounted for as the wholesale electricity or gas is delivered similar to the retail electricity transaction methodology described above.

Third Party Channel Commissions

Commissions are paid to channel partners at contractual rates based on monthly energy transactions between energy suppliers and
energy consumers. The commission is accrued monthly and charged to sales and marketing expense as revenue is recognized.
Commissions are paid to salespeople at contractual commission rates based upon cash collections from customers.

Revenue Estimation

The Company’s estimates in relation to revenue recognition affect revenue and sales and marketing expense as reflected on its
statements of operations, and trade accounts receivable and accrued commissions accounts as reflected on its balance sheets. For any
quarterly reporting period, the Company may not have actual usage data for certain energy suppliers and will need to estimate revenue.
Revenue is recorded based on the energy consumers’ historical usage profile. At the end of each reporting period, the Company adjusts
historical revenue to reflect actual usage for the period. For the year ended December 31, 2007, usage was estimated for approximately
10% of the Company’s revenue resulting in a $35,179, or 0.4%, adjustment. This increase in revenue resulted in an approximate 0.1%
reduction in sales and marketing expense related to third party commissions associated with those revenues. Corresponding
adjustments were made to unbilled accounts receivable and accrued commissions, respectively. A 1% difference between this estimate
and actual usage would have an approximate $9,000 effect on the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Software Development

Certain acquired software and significant enhancements to the Company’s software are recorded in accordance with Statement of Position
(“SOP™) 98-1, “Accounting for Costs of Computer Softiware Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. Accordingly, internally developed
software costs of approximately $469,000, $66,000, and $54,000 related to implementation, coding and configuration have been capitalized in
2007, 2006, and 20035, respectively. The Company amortizes internally developed and purchased software over the estimated usefui life of the
software (generally three years). Accordingly, during 2007, 2006, and 2005, approximately $111,000, $73,000, and $55,000, respectively,
were amortized to cost of revenues resulting in accumulated amortization of approximately $273,000, $162,000, and $89,000 at December 31,
2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, At December 31, 2007, future amortization expense for capitalized internally developed software is as
follows:

O U O $ 188,000
167,000

$_ 464,000
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Pre- and post- software implementation and configuration costs have historically been immaterial and charged to cost of revenue as
incurred.

Goodwill

The Company uses assumptions in establishing the carrying value and fair value of its goodwiil. Goodwi!l represents the excess of
the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of acquired businesses. The Company accounts for goodwill that results
from acquired businesses in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets having indeft nite lives are not amortized
but instead are assigned to reporting units and tested for impairment annually or more frequently if change!s in circumstances or the
occurrence of events indicate possible impairment.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, the Company performs an annual impairment test for goodwill. The impairment test for goodwill is a
two-step process. Step one consists of a comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit with its carryihg amount, including the
goodwill allocated to each reporting unit. If the carrying amount is in excess of the fair value, step two requires the comparison of the
implied fair value of the reporting unit whereby the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over the:: implied fair value of the
reporting unit’s goodwill will be recorded as an impairment loss. There was no impairment of goodwill in the year ended December
31, 2007. Future events could cause management to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that good“!fill of previously acquired
businesses is impaired. Any related impairment loss could have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations.

Intangible Assets

The Company uses assumptions in establishing the carrying value, fair value and estimated lives of its intangible assets. The criteria
used for these assumptions include management’s estimate of the assets continuing ability to generate positiv'e income from operations
and positive cash flow in future periods compared to the carrying value of the asset, as well as the strategic significance of any
identiftable intangible asset in our business objectives, If assets are considered impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by
which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Useful lives and related amortization expense are based on
an estimate of the period that the assets will generate revenues or otherwise be used by the Company. Factors that would influence the
likelihood of a material change in the Company’s reported results include significant changes in the asset’s ability to generate positive
cash flow, a significant decline in the economic and competitive environment on which the asset depends and|significant changes in the
Company’s strategic business objectives.

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships and contracts, purchased technology and other imangiblles and are stated at cost
less accumulated amortization. Intangible assets with a definite life are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, which range from one to ten years. Accumulated amortization of intangible assets amounted to approx1mately $813,000 at
December 31, 2007.

Impairment of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, the Company periodically
reviews long-lived assets and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances|indicate that the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable or that the useful lives of those assets are no longer appropriate. Recoverability of these
assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which the assets relate to the carrying
amount. There was no impairment of intangible assets in the year ended December 31, 2007,
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of 50 days or less to be cash equivalents.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is siated at cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated|useful lives of the related
assets or the life of the related lease, whichever is shorter, which range from 3 to 7 years.
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes "("SFAS No. 1097).
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based on the future tax consequences that can be attributed to
net operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the asset or liability from
period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income. In determining the valuation allowance, the Company considers past performance, expected future taxable income, and
qualitative factors which are considered to be appropriate in estimating future taxable income. The Company’s forecast of expected
future taxable income is for future pericds that can be reasonably estimated. The Company has historically utilized a three year
forecasting window to determine its expected future taxable income. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had cumulative net
income for the three vears then ended and the expected future taxable income anticipated from 2007 through 2009 was deemed
adequate on a present value basis to benefit the majority of our deferred tax assets (primarily net operating loss carryforwards). During
2007, the Company accelerated its growth in excess of its initial expectations to address the strategic initiatives outlined at the time of
our initial public offering. The Company grew from 20 employees as of December 31, 2006 to 63 as of December 31, 2007, acquired
one of its main competitors in the retail energy market, and developed its wholesale and environmental commodity product lines. These
initiatives increased the Company’s loss for 2007 resulting in a three-year cumulative loss as of December 31, 2007 and increased its
near term operating expenses. A three-year cumulative loss is significant negative evidence in considering whether the deferred tax assets are
realizable and generally precludes relying on projections of future taxable income to support the recovery of deferred tax assets. While the
Company expects its future income will be adequate on a present value basis to benefit substantially all of its current deferred tax
assets, the recent three-year cumulative loss is given more weight than projected future income when determining the need for a
valuation. Therefore, during the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets of
approximately $4.1 million, and maintains a cumulative valuation allowance of approximately $4.7 million at December 31, 2007.

The Company's estimates in relation to income taxes affect income tax expense and deferred tax assets as reflected on its statements
of operations and balance sheets, respectively. The deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not
that the tax benefits will not be realized in the near term. As of December 31, 2007, the Company had deferred tax assets of
approximately $4.7 million against which a full valuation allowance has been established. To the extent the Company determines that it
is more likely than not that it will recover all of its deferred tax assets, it could result in an approximate $4.7 million non-cash tax
benefit.

The Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards (“FASB™) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes” (“FIN 48™), on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s
financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109. FIN 48 prescribes a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to
recognize. First, the tax position must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon examination by a tax
authority, [f the tax position is deemed “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the
amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that
has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. [f the tax position does not meet the “more-likely-
than-not™ threshold, then it is not recognized in the financial statements. As of its adoption date of January 1, 2007, and also at
December 31, 2007, FIN 48 did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

The Company has reviewed the tax positions taken, or to be taken, in its tax returns for all tax years currently open to examination by
the taxing authority in accordance with the recognition and measurement standards of FIN 48. At December 31, 2007, there are no
expected material, aggregate tax effect of differences between tax return positions and the benefits recognized in our financial
statements,

Advertising Expense

Advertising expense primarily includes promotional expenditures and is expensed as incurred, as such efforts have not met the
direct-response criteria required for capitalization. Amounts incurred for advertising expense were not material for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2003,

Comprehensive Income

SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income ", establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income (loss)
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and its components in financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in stockholders’ equity of a business
enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. The comprehensive income
(loss) for all periods presented does not differ from the reported net income (loss).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments ", requires management to disclose the estimated fair value
of certain assets and liabilities defined by SFAS 107 as financial instruments. Financial instruments are Igenerally defined as cash,
evidence of ownership interest in an entity, or a contractual obligation that both conveys to one entity a right to receive cash or other
financial instruments from another entity and imposes on the other entity the obligation to deliver cash or other financial instruments to
the first entity. At December 31, 2007, management believes that the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and
payables approximated fair value because of the short maturity of these financial instruments.

Segment Reporting

SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”, established standards for reporting
information about operating segments in financial statements. Operating segments are defined as compenents of an enterprise about
which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief decision maker in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance. The Company’s chief decision maker is the chief executive officer. The Company’s chief
decision maker reviews the results of operations based on one industry segment: the brokering of energy and environmental
commedities utilizing online auction platforms.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company 1o concentrations of credit risk consist prmCIpaIIy of cash and trade
accounts receivable. The Company has no signiftcant off-balance sheet risk such as foreign exchange conllracls option contracts, or
other foreign hedging arrangements. The Company places its cash with primarily one institution, which management believes is of high
credit quality.

The Company receives commission payments from energy Suppllers based on the energy usage transacted between energy
consumers and energy suppliers. The Company provides credit in the form of invoiced and unbilled accounts receivable to energy
suppliers and energy consumers in the normal course of business. Collateral is not required for trade accounts receivable, but ongoing
credit evaluations of encrgy suppliers and energy consumers are performed. Management provides for an allowance for doubtful
accounts on a specifically identified basis, as well as through historical experience applied to an aging of accounts, if necessary. Trade
accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. To date write-offs have not been material.

The following represents revenue and trade accounts receivable from energy suppliers exceeding 10% of the total in each category:
Trade accounts receivable as of

Revenue for the vear ended December 31, December 31,

Encrgy supplicr 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 |
11% 18% 18% 10% 21%

5% 13% 10% 7% 12%

6% 10% 18% 12% 4%

% 10% — 10% 4%

6% 6% 11% 2% 1%

21% 9% — 22% 4%

During 2006, supplier A was acquired by another supplier who is not reflected above as its revenues represented less than 10% of
total revenue. If these suppliers were combined as of January }, 2006, revenue attributable to these customer§ would have been 27% for
the year ended December 31, 2006 and unbilled accounts recewablu would have represented 46% of total unbilled accounts receivable
as of December 31, 2006.

In addition to its direct relationship with energy suppliers, the Company also has direct contractual relationships with energy
consumers for the online procurement of certain of their energy needs. These energy consumers are primarily large businesses and
government organizations. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20035, two, four and three of these energy consumers
accounted for transactions resulting in over 10% individually, respectively, and approximately 30%, 63% and 51% in the agpregate of
our revenue, respectively.
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Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current presentation.
Earnings (Loss) Per Share

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-6, “Participating Securities and the
Two — Class Method under FAS 1287 (“EITF Issue No. 03-6™). EITF Issue No. 03-6 provides guidance in determining when the two-
class method, as defined in SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”, must be utilized in calculating earnings per share. For the year
ended December 31, 2005, the Company had determined that its non-voting common stock and Series A redeemable convertible
preferred stock (the “Series A Preferred”) represented participating securities. The non-voting commeon had the same privileges and
rights of the voting common stock, except for the right to vote. The Series A Preferred participated in dividends, if any, paid by the
Company on a proportional basis with the voting common stock. The Series A Preferred and non-voting common automatically
converted into voting common stock on a one-for-one basis upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering. EITF lssue
No. 03-6 requires the income per share for each class of common stock to be calculated assuming 100% of the Company’s eamings are
distributed as dividends to each class of common stock based upon their respective dividend rights, even though the Company does not
anticipate distributing 100% of its earnings as dividends.

Basic earnings per share for the Company’s voting common and non-voting common stock is calculated by dividing net income
(loss) allocated to voting commen and non-voting common stock by the weighted average number of shares of voting common and
non-voting common stock outstanding, respectively. Diluted earnings per share for the Company’s voting common stock assumes the
conversion of all the Company’s non-voting common stock and Series A Preferred therefore no allocation of earnings to non-voting
common stock or the Series A Preferred is required.

For the basic earnings per share calculation in 2005, net income was allocated to Series A Preferred shareholders based on dividend
rights and then among the Company’s two classes of common stock; voting common stock and non-voting common stock based on
ownership interests. The allocation among each class of stock was based upon the two-class method. The following table reflects the

allocation of net income using this method:
For the Year Fnded
December 31, 2008

Net income available to common shareholders ..............ccooe v, § 1,040,051

Allocation of net income for basic:

Voting common StOCK........ocoo i $ 684,354

Non-voting commeon SIOCK ... 140,407

Series A Preferred stOCK ..ot 215.290
5 1,040,051

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed an initial public offering of its common stock. As a result, all issued and
outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and non-voting common stock were automatically converted into voting common stock.
As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company only had one issued and outstanding class of stock — common stock. As a result, the
basic loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is computed by dividing net loss available to common
stockhalders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The computed loss per share does not
assume conversion, exercise, or contingent exercise of securities that would have an anti-dilutive effect on loss per share. The
foliowing table reflects the weighted average shares used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Weighed average number of voting common shares — basic.............o.... 79,793,590 45,576,477 33,049,472
Weighed average number of non-voting common shares — basic .......... — — 0,778.327
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares

OULSEANAING — DASIC ..oviotoeie e e 79,793,590 45,576,477 39,827,799
Dilutive Shares:
Weighted average number of Series A Preferred shares ..o — — 10,433,504
Incremental shares under the treasury stock method for outstanding warrants — — 1,191,808
Incremental shares under the treasury stock method for outsianding options — — 3.053.455
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares

omtStANdINg —— dilUted ... coviieeer e s 79,793,590 45,576,477 _54,506,566
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For the year ended December 31, 2007, 1,048,575, 1,826,375 and 493,718 weighted average shares issuable relative to common
stock warrants, common stock options and restricted stock, respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the inclusion of
such shares would be anti-dilutive due to the Company’s net loss position. For the year ended December 31, 2006, 9,147,182,
2,251,072 and 2,230,232 weighted average shares issuable relative to preferred stock, common stock warrants and stock options,
respectively, were excluded from net loss per share since the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive due to the Company’s net
loss position. For the year ended December 31, 2007, 2,320,000 shares issuable relative to common stock options had exercise prices
that exceeded the average market price of the Company’s common stock and were excluded from the calculation of diluted shares since
the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive.

The Company did not declare or pay any dividends in 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Share-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2007, the Company had two share-based employee compensatlon plans, which are more fully described in Note 6.
Effective January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), “Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123(R)"™) which is a revision of SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock- Based Compensation” (“SFAS No.
123"). SFAS No. 123(R) superseded Accounting Principles Board (APB) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplovees”, and
amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows”. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based paym'ents to employees, including
grants of employee stock options and restricted stock, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma
disclosure is no longer an alternative.

SFAS No. 123(R) requires nonpublic companies that used the minimum value method in SFAS No. 123 for either recognition or pro
forma disclosures to apply SFAS No. 123(R) using the prospective-transition method. As such, the Company will continue to apply
APB 25 in future periods to equity awards outstanding at the date of SFAS No. 123(R)’s adoption that were measured using the
minimum value method. In accordance with this standard, the prior period pro forma stock mformatlon has not been restated. In
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), the Company will recognize the compensation cost of share-based wards on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period of the award.

The per-share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December ’31, 2007 and 2006 was $0.58
and $0.36, respectively, on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions and estimated forfeiture rates of 13% in 2007 and 2006, respectively:

Year ended Expected Risk Expected Expected

December 31, Dividend Yield Interest Rate Option Life Volatlllty
2007 4.66% 4.61 years 54%
20006 — 4.66% 4.75 years 48%

Effective with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company elected to use the Black-Scholes opti!on pricing model to determine
the weighted average fair value of options granted. As the Company’s stock has a limited trading history as of December 31, 2007, the
Company determined the volatility for stock options granted in 2007 based on a weighted combination of per share closing prices
reported on the Toronto Stock Exchange, and historical and reported data for a peer group of companies that issued options with
substantially similar terms. The expected life of options has been determined utilizing the “simplified]” method as prescribed by the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “Share-Based Payment".| The risk-free interest rate is
based on a treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options. The Company has not paid and does
not anticipate paying cash dividends on its common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. In addition,
SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to utilize an estimated forfeiture rate when calculating the expense for the period, whereas,
SFAS No. 123 permitted companies to tecord forfeitures based on actual forfeitures, which was the Conllpany s historical policy under
SFAS No. 123, As a result, the Company applied estimated forfeiture rates of between 11% and 13%,}and 12% and 13% during the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, in determining the expense recorded in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations. The effect on compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2007

from changes in the forfeiture

rate in 2007 of previous years’ stock option grants, resulted in an increase in compensation expense of less than $1,000.

For the vear ended December 31, 2007, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense

of approximately $982,000 in

connection with share-based payment awards as follows: approximately $753,00¢ in sales and marketmg, approximately $103,000 in

cost of revenue and approximately $126,000 in general and administrative expenses.
Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $44,000 in connection with s
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follows: approximately $20,000 in sales and marketing, approximately $2,000 in cost of revenue and approximately $22,000 in general
and administrative expenses. As of December 31, 2007, there was approximately $3,024,000 of unrecognized compensation expense
related share-based awards, including approximately $1,513,000 related to non-vested stock option awards that is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.18 years, and approximately $1.511,000 related to non-vested restricted stock awards.
See Note 6 for a summary of the share-based activity under the Company’s stock-based employee compensation plans for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method
prescribed in APB 25 and related interpretations. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation expense is measured on the date of
grant as the difference between the deemed fair value of the Company’s common stock and the option exercise price multiplied by the
number of options granted. Generally, the Company grants stock options with exercise prices equal to the estimated fair value of its
common stock; however, to the extent that the deemed fair value of the common stock exceeded the exercise price of stock options
granted to employees on the date of grant, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense ratably over the vesting schedule
of the options, generally four years. The fair value of the Company’s common stock is determined by the Company’s Board of
Directors (the “Board™).

Prior to November 16, 2006, there had been no public market for the Company’s common stock and the fair value for the
Company’s common stock was estimated by the Board, with input from management as well as from independent appraisals. The
Board exercised judgment in determining the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant based on
several factors, including the liquidation preferences, dividend rights, and voting control attributable to the Company’s then-
outstanding convertible preferred stock and, primarily, the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event such as an initial public offering or
sale of the Company. In the absence of a public trading market for the Company’s common stock, the Board considered objective and
subjective factors in determining the fair value of the Company’s common stock. The Company believes this to have been a reasonable
methodology based upon the Company’s internal peer company analyses and based on arms-length transactions, when applicable,
involving the Company’s common stock supportive of the results produced by this valuation methodology.

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, options to purchase 3,020,000 and 1,262,000 shares of common stock were
granted, respectively, at weighted exercise prices of $1.24 and $0.79, respectively. The weighted average fair value of the Company’s
common stock at option grant date for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $1.17 and $0.78, respectively. Additionally,
1,928,500 shares of restricted stock were granted for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007.

In preparing for the initial public offering of the Company’s common stock, the Company reassessed the valuations of its common
stock during 2006, in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA’s”) Practice Aid, Valuation of
Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities fssued as Compensation (the “Practice Aid”). In May 2006, the company engaged an
unrelated third-party valuation specialist to assist management in providing a retrospective valuation report of option grants during the
first quarter of 2006 and a prospective valuation of the July 31, 2006 option grants. The third-party valuation specialist valued the
Company’s common stock (both voting and non-voting common stock) at approximately $0.30, $0.3% and $0.95 as of January 16,
2006, February 10, 2006 and July 31, 2006, respectively, representing the dates when certain stock options were granted.

The Company believes that the valuation methodologies that were used were consistent with the Practice Aid. With the exception of
one option to purchase 60,000 shares on March 30, 2006, the Company has concluded that for all options granted to employees during
the two years ended December 31, 2005 and the period from January T, 2006 to November 16, 2006, the fair value of its common
stock, for financial reporting purposes, did not exceed the exercise price for those options at the time of grant. The Company granted
stock options to purchase 60,000 shares of non-voting common stock, on March 30, 2006, o an employee with an exercise price of
$0.38 per share, which was $0.12 per share below fair value as subsequently determined by the Board of Directors. Compensation
expense related to this grant was deemed to be immaterial. On July 19, 2006 the Company and the option holder agreed to terminate
the option grant. On July 31, 2006, the Company granted this employee an option to purchase 72,000 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $0.95, which the Board determined to be the fair value at that date. No stock-based compensation expense was
recorded for the year ended December 31, 2005 as the exercise price of the Company’s stock options was equal to the estimated fair
value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.

The Company accounts for transactions in which services are received from non-employees in exchange for equity instruments
based on the fair value of such services received or of the equity instruments issued., whichever is more reliably measured, in
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) and EITF 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Emplovees for
Acquiring, or in Conjunction With Selling, Goods or Services”. The Company granted 455,000 shares of restricted common stock
during 2007 to non-employees in consideration for services performed. At the time of the grants, these shares of restricted stock had a
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fair value of approximately $523,000, based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date. The Company
recognized a charge of approximately $488,000 to sales and marketing expense in the statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2007 related to these grants.

The Company provides the disclosures as required by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and Disclosure,
an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123",

The following table illustrates the assumptions used and the effect on net income if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 1o stock-based employee compensation. For purposes of this pre forma disclosure, the
Company estimated the fair value of stock options issued to employees using the minimum value, option-pricing model. The
Company’s use of the minimum value model was primarily due to the determination as to its appropriateness, as well as its general
acceptance as an option valuation technique for private companies.

The weighted-average assumptions used to calculate the SFAS No. 123 pro forma expense for stock aptions granted to employees
and directors for the year ended December 31, 2005:

DIvIdend Yield......ooooooor e 0%
RiSK-fTe8 INEEIEST TALE ..ottt ekt 363%104.22%
EXPECLEU TR .oveiiiei ittt et nan 5 years
VOIAHIIEY oot e ettt ettt en e seane et s esernanbens 0%

Had compensation cost for these awards been determined consistent with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income would have been
as follows;

2005
Net incommg available to common sharcholders, as reported.........c.coveevieiivicvcciiceeeee, $ 1,040,051
Deduct: total stock-based cmployee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards, net of related tax
CITECIS . e s et e bt aea e (7.499)
Net income available to commeon sharcholders, pro forma ... $ 1,032,552

As Reported Per Share Amounts:

Basic net income per weighted average voting common Share .........cooooooeeiiiieee s, 3 0.02
Basic net income per weighted average non-voting common share.........occooi v b 0.02
Diluted net income per weighted average common share ..o, b 0.02
Pro-forma Per Share Amounts:

Pro-forma basic net income per weighted average voting common share............coocooeeeennne 5 0.02
Pro-forma basic net income per weighted average non-voling common share ..................... 5 0.02
Pro-forma diluted net income per weighted average common share.....................cooveennn. 3 0.02

As stock options vest over several years and additional stock option grants are expected to be made each year, the above pro forma
disclosures are not necessarily representative of pro forma effects on results of operations for future periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No.[141(R)"). SFAS No. 141(R)
requires an acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all (and only) the assets acquired and liabiliti]e:s assumed in the transaction;
establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and requires the
acquirer to disclose to investors and other users all of the information they need to evaluate and understand thc‘nature and financial effect of
the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company expects to adopt
SFAS No. 141(R) on January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncamrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements ™ (*SFAS No. 160™).
SFAS No. 160 clarifies that a noncontrollmg, or minority interest in a subsidiary is considered an ownership interest and, accordingly, requires
all entities to report such interests in subsidiaries as equity in the consolidated financial statements. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company expects to adopt SFAS No. 160 on January 1, 2009,

[n September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157"). This standard defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. This pronouncement applies to other accounting standards that require or permit
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fair value measurements. Accordingly, this statement does not require any new fait value measurement. This statement is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. In December of 2007, the FASB agreed
to a one year deferral of SFAS No. 157’s fair value measurement requirements for nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are not
required or permitted to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company’s management is currently evaluating the
requirements of SFAS No. 157, but does not expect it to have a material impact on the Company’s 2008 consolidated financial
statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.”
SFAS No. 159 allows entities the option to measure eligible financial instruments at fair value as of specified dates. Such election,
which may be applied on an instrument by instrument basis, is typically irrevocable once elected. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company adopted SFAS No. 159 on January 1, 2008, but has not yet elected the fair
value option for any items permitted under SFAS No. 159.

NOTE 3 — TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET
The Company generally does not directly invoice energy suppliers and, therefore, reports a significant portion of its receivables as
“unbilled.” Unbilled accounts receivable represents management’s best estimate of energy provided by the energy suppliers to the energy

consumers for a specific completed time period at contracted commission rates.

Trade accounts receivable, net consists of the following:
December 31,

2007 2006
Unbilled 2cCOUNES TECEIVABIE. .. ...t eeee ettt e e b e e tesseab e st easbr e ees et e s meeee e e reneaniis $1,619.440 § 1,698,665
Billed accounts TECEIVADIE ... ..ooiiiiiiic et e e st b bt 263,793 4,133
1,883,233 1,702,798
Allowance for doubtful BCCOUNLS. ...ttt et e . (5,000) —
Trade accounts receivable, NET ... e 3l 23 $ 1,702,798
NOTE 4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net consists of the following:
December 31,
2007 2006
Leasehold iMPrOVEMIENES..........c.voeeieeerteeeeneetererseresserens e e srese s srns s eeses s ens s ensna s st st abebs arar st $ 65451 $ 16,751
EQUIPIMENL oottt e e es s e d e A b b e 426,781 225,051
FUIMIEUTe ANd fIXTUTES .. .o cieieee e s s e s e et ree st s e sreeme e sme e sae s A aA St aa b e b s ab s b e s en 2 bn e e 418,974 194,552
911,206 436,354
Less accumulated depreciation {315,256) (210.422)
Property and EqQUIPIENT, ME...........oouiiiirieereers i rnermeeseeeceesiessessers s essesereer e mss sttt e § 595950 § 225932

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $104,834, $62,156 and $51,084, respectively. Property
and equipment purchased under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $271,104 for both years, respectively.
Accumulated depreciation for property and equipment purchased under capital lease was $182,872 and $137,758 at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively.

NOTE 5 — SERIES A REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

On Noverber 16, 2006, in connection with its initial public offering, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to eliminate all
references to the Series A Preferred Stock and authorize 5,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value undesignated preferred stock. No shares have
been issued as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Prior to November 16, 2006, the Company had authorized 15,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value Series A Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred”). The Series A Preferred had the following terms and conditions:

Dividends — In the event that the Company pays a dividend (other than a dividend payable solely in shares of commeon stock) on its
common stock, the holders of shares of Series A will be entitled to a proportionate share of any such distribution as though it was the holder of
the number of shares of common stock into which its share of Series A is convertible as of the date fixed for the determination of the holders
of common stock entitled 1o receive the distribution,

Automatic Conversion — Shares of Series A Preferred will automatically convert into common stock at the applicable conversion rate (one
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share of common stock for one share of Series A Preferred) in the event of: (1) the closing of an underwritten initial public offering with
aggregate proceeds to the Company of at least $10,000,000 and a per share price to the public of at least three tlmels the initial conversion price
(a “qualified public oftering™) or (2) the election of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred.

Optional Conversion — The holders of Series A Preferred have the right to convert their shares, at any time, into shares of voting common
stock on a one for one basis.

Liquidation Preference — In the event of liquidation or winding up of the Company, each holder of Series A Preferred shall be entitled to
be paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders in preference to the commoﬂ stockholders, in an amount
equal to the price per share of the Series A Preferred or $0.146 (the “Liquidation Amount™). After the payment of this amount to holders of
Series A Preferred, the common stockholders will be entitled to receive any remaining assets of the Compan'y on a pro rata basis. The
following qualify as events that would trigger a liquidation: (1) a merger or consolidation (other than one in wk'nch the stockholders, at the
time of the merger or consolidation, continue to hold more than 50% of the stock of the surviving entity) or (2) 4 sale or exclusive license of

all or substantially all of the assets or intellectual property of the Company.

Redemprion Provisions — All shares of Series A Preferred will be redeemed by the Company, at the Liquidatic{n Amount, at any time after
January 31, 2009, if the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred request, by written notice to the Company, that
the shares be redeemed. The shares will be redeemed within 60 days of the Company receiving such written notice,

The Company had classified the Series A Preferred outside of permanent equity due to its redemption feature being outside the control of
the Company. The activity within the Series A Preferred shares and redemption value for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
is as follows:

Nu m:ber of Redemption
Shares Value
Balance, December 31, 2004 ... .o ieie ettt ae ettt ettt sa et s ettt st ene s ren et 10,433,504 1,494,499
ACCTELION OF SEOCK ISSUANCE COSIS 1.veiviitiieiii oot eee e e e e e e et e ettt e e e e et e e e easesees et e are et eeeeeeeeeseseeresean — 7.199
Balance, THecembBer 31, 2005 ... oottt e ettt ee e ee e ee et e eeeeassat s et e be e e te ettt emseeren e r s e ne et e reereeeeeeens 10,433,504 1,501,698
ACCTELION OF SLOCK ISSUAITE COSES .o vveeeeiieiei et ee et eeeeeee et e eerres e stessmeeareastassessessasiasseseesreraneresenstreeateensestenisnessenss — 6,299
Conversion of Series A Preferred into COMMON STOCK ..vivviiii ettt ie st e st et m e ee et seeee e ereeresreneenees (10.433.504) (1.507.99N
Balance, December 31, 2006 and 2007 ......ovriiioiiieie e ves e sttt e eee e ee e es et et neas — 3 —

NOTE 6 — COMMON STOCK

On March 31, 2003, the Board increased the number of shares of $0.0001 par value common stock from 50 000,000 to 90,000,000, of
which 75,000,000 were designated voting common stock (“Voting Common Stock™) and 15,000,000 were de51gnated as non-voting common
stock (“Non-Voting Common Stock™),

On October 16, 20006, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporation to increase the authorized shares of voting common stock from
75,000,000 to 100,000,000 shares. The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Company had the authority to issue after this
amendment was 130,000,000, consisting of 15,000,000 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock, 100,000,000 shares of Voting Common Stock
and 15,000,000 shares of Series A Preferred.

On November 16, 2006, the Company completed its initial public offering of 27,441,064 shares of common stock at a price of CDN$1.05
(approximately US3$0.93) per share. The offering was comprised of 20,000,000 shares sold by the CompanyI for gross proceeds to the
Company of CDN$21,000,000 and 7,441,064 shares sold by certain selling stockholders for gross proceeds to such stockholders of
approximately CDN$7,800,000. [n connection with this offering, the Company amended its Certificate of Incorporatlon to increase the
authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 to 150,000,000 shares. The total number of shares of alf classes of stock which the
Company has the authority to issue after this amendment is 155,000,000, consisting of 150,000,000 shares of common stock and 5,000,000
shares of undesignated preferred stock.

On December §, 2006, the Company issued an additional 3,000,000 shares of common stock in accordance mth an over-allotment option
granted to the underwriters of the initial public offering at a price of CDNS$1.05 (approximately US $0.92) per share for gross proceeds to the
Company of CDN$3,150,000. Net proceeds to the Company from the initial public offering and over-allotmentloption were approximately
$17.5 million, after deducting the underwriting discount of $1.3 million and other direct costs of $2.3 million.

As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 82,399,241, 76,511,741 and 33,049,473 shares of Voting Common Stock were issued and
outstanding, respectively, while 6,792,135 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock were issued and outstanding as Sf December 31, 2005. The
holders of the Non-Voting Common Stock had the same privileges and rights of the holders of the Voting Common Stock, except for the right
to vote. The 8,982 806 shares of Non-Voting Common Stock automatically converted to Voting Common Stock|at the closing of the initial
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public offering of the Company’s common stock.

On June 1, 2007, the Company issued 5,375,000 common shares of World Energy in connection with the acquisition of substantially all of
the assets of EnergyGateway. The shares were valued at approximately $6,536,000 based on the average closing price on the Toronto Stock
Exchange for the two days before and after the announcement date of $1.22 per share. Approximately 2.175 million of the shares that the
Company delivered to EnergyGateway in connection with this transaction (or the proceeds upon any sale thereof) are being held in escrow for
18 months following the closing of the sale to secure various indemnification obligations of EnergyGateway and its members.

Guaranteed Return on Voting Common Stock

In 2002, a certain sharcholder purchased shares of Voting Common Stock of the Company and the Company agreed to pay an 8%
guaranteed return per year based on the initial investment of $200,000 with payments to continue until the earlier of a liquid market for the
Company’s equity or August 31, 2006. In accordance with SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities”, the Company
bifurcated the guaranteed return on the Voting Common Stock at its then deemed fair value of $66,651 and recorded the guaranteed return as a
liability. The payments on the guaranteed return were being amortized to principal and interest, using the interest method, through August 31,
2006. The Company has deemed the difference between the stated value and the fair value of the derivative feature to be immaterial and has
not recorded a “mark-to-market” adjustment during the life of the feature,

Fair Value of Common Stock

The Company has granted common stock, common stock warrants, and common stock option awards (“equity awards”™) to consultants,
employees, debt holders, and others since its inception. The Company’s determination of the fair value of the underlying common stock is a
significant aspect in accounting for these aforementioned equity awards in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

During each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006, the Company and the Board had determined the fair value of the
Series A Preferred, the Voting and Non-Voting Common Stock at each issuance of such equity awards. Prior to the consummation of the
Company’s initial public offering the fair value of the Voting and Non-Voting Common Stock had been determined by the Board at the
measurement date of each of the aforementioned equity awards, based on a variety of different factors including, but not limited to the
Company’s financial position and historical financial performance, the status of technological developments within the Company, the
composition and ability of the current engineering, operations, and management team, an evaluation and benchmark of the Company’s
competition, the current climate in the marketplace, the illiquid nature of the common stock, arms-length sales and anticipated sales of the
Company’s capital stock (including preferred stock), the effect of the rights and preferences of preferred shareholders, independent third party
appraisals, and the prospects of a liquidity event, among others.

Treasury Stock

On March 14, 2006, the Company purchased 25,000 of its Voting Common Stock from certain shareholders at $2.00 per share. The excess of
the purchase price and the then deemed fair value on the date of the purchase of $0.50 per share, or $37,500, has been charged to general and
administrative expense. On June 19, 2006, the Board voted to retire all its treasury stock (700,346 shares) which had a cost of $164,453,

Common Stock Warrants

At December 31, 2007, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase 2,000,814 shares of common stock at a weighted average
exercise price of $0.54. During 2005, the Company issued warrants to purchase 3,000,000 shares of Voting Common Stock in
connection with the subordinated note issued to Massachusetts Capital Resource Company, or MCRC. Of the warrants that were issued
in connection with this note, 600,000 were vested upon issuance and the remaining 2,400,000 did not vest and subsequently expired
due to the successful consummation of the Company’s initial underwritten public offering of its common stock on November 16, 2006.
On December 4, 2006, MCRC exercised its warrant to purchase 600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $0.40 in
connection with the redemption of the subordinated note by the Company.

On November 16, 2006 and December 5, 2006, the Company granted the underwriters of the initial public offering warrants to
putchase up to 1,000,000 and 150,000 shares of common stock, respectively at the initial public offering price. The warrants are
exercisable at the 1-year anniversary of the warrants issuance (November 16, 2007 and December 5, 2007, respectively) and expire 18
months from the date of the one year anniversary (May 15, 2009 and June 4, 2009, respectively). These warrants allow for net share
settlement and certain of the holders of these warrants have piggy-back registration rights. The Company valued the warrants at
$274,129 and recorded them as a component of additional paid-in capital. The following table summarizes the Company’s warrant
activity:
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Weighted

Average
Exercise
Shares Price
Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2004 ..o b 1,821,772 $ 003
L Y11 0= OO OO T OO OO USSR TO OO U UP S UUOURUPTORR PR 3,000,000 $ 0.40
EKETCISEA ... oooiiiiieireititrittitassessassassarsassessasre s e eaeaeeseaseataabanbanbeneene e st e beebe et e et et e et et e et em s e e b b e a e ar s — 5 —
CANCEIRA/EXPITEA ...ttt s b et b a e e bt ee e e e es | — $
Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2005 ..o s 4321772 $ 0.29
GITATIEEA ....eooo oo et s s £1150,000 $ 092
EXEECISE ©rrvvvver oo eerersersesees et eesoesmeseeese et e sseereesems e eseeremsem e ee bt s e e s b e e et b i e e s s bt et {1,070,958) $ 024
CANCELEA/EXPITEA ..ot e s s a2t na e s s s s bbb (2.400.000) $ 040
Warrants outstanding, December 31, 2006 and 2007 ........ccovumrrreniriermicicssssnienisss s s 2,000,814 $ 0.54
The weighed average remaining contractual life of warrants outstanding is 1.3 years and 2.3 years as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.
Stock Options

On May 9, 2003, the Company formally approved the adoption of the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (the *

2003 Plan™ and authorized

15,000,000 shares for the grant of options to purchase shares of Voting Common Stock. As of December 3l 2007, 4,163,029 shares of
common stock were reserved under the 2003 Plan. No further grants are allowed under the 2003 Plan. On November 16, 2006, the Company

adopted the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan™) and authorized 4,738,161 shares of common stock for g
of option activity under the Plans is as follows:

tant thereunder. A summary

Weighted
Average
__Shares Exercise Price

Qutstanding at December 31, 2004 .o e e 6,664,200 $ 0.03
GTATIEEM oo ee e e et e e e e e e et et et e et e ae e e e s easeaeemsameamaemsemsesnesn e eat e ke b e eba ek et abaer e et bt e e br et r b e nran e et 440,000 $ 024
CATICELE oottt et et et s etsaseessesasrme et amte e e eseetmt et em st smnsassensesmessemeneesns ot s s abaesaeabsabsesaneubemsessmranrenressresrenrnn (1,392,500) $ 0.03
FXEICISEU ... et h £ E e b e e st e e e e et st e e s s a e e r e e b (240,000) $ 0.03
Qutstanding at December 31, 2005 Lo e s 5,471,700 $ 0.04
L1 1111 OO OO U U ST SO U OT U OO OO PO PO PO O OO 1 262 ,000 $ 079
LYo T WU OO OO O T SO TR OSSO OO RT (60 000} $ 038
EXETCISEA. .o v ittt st et ee st es st as e oe s s eess e s e e me s esamt s ae et e et e eE e et e s o e etk e4 RS Lk eA R €t er Rt bR s (2.190,671) $ 003
Qutstanding at December 31, 2006 ..o e sttt 4,483,029 $ 026
L] V0=« DO U E U PO PTG U PP OSSOSO 3 020 000 $ 1.24
CANCEIBM ...ttt bbb e e e e E e b e e et r e b e (687 500) $ 082
KB CISR v vireeveeraeseeeesseseseesees et eeenesasesstsemseasensteseesemeeneestsessaas s ease bt ekt o smeaabemse e eeateeansan e e grascastant e ra s e bmenrereenene {112.500) $ 0.03
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 ..o..voiciic s et s _6,703.029 § 065

A summary of options outstanding and options exercisable as of December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Options Quistanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Range of Remaining Aggregate Number Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Of Shares Contractual Intrinsic
Prices Options Life Value Exercisable Life Value
$0.02 -$0.23 ... 2,651,029 2.82 Years $ 2,081,058 2,646,029 2.82 Years $ 2!,077,133
$024-81.12 ... 1,612,000 4.78 Years 391,300 670,625 4.87 Years 229,263
$1.13-8134 ... 2,440,000 6.36 Years — 30,000 5.96 Years —

6,703,029 4.58 Years § 2472358 3,346,654 3.26 Years 2,306,396

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value of our outstanding options and exercisable options as of

December 31, 2007. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 3

I1 2007 was approximately

$126,000. At December 31, 2007, the weighted average exercise price of options outstanding and exerc1=able was $0.64 and $0.13,

respectively. The weighted average fair value of option grants for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
respectively.
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Restricted Stock

A summary of restricted stock activity under the 2006 Plan for the year ended December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Weighted Average

Shares (rant Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 — b —
Granted 1,928,500 $1.13
Cancelled (80,000) $1.21
Vested (400,000) $1.21
Unvested at December 31, 2007 1,448,500 $1.10

There were 8,151,529 shares reserved for issuance under these plans, and 349,661 shares available for grant under the 2006 Plan at

December 31, 2007.

NOTE 7 — RELATED PARTIES

In 2006, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with a member of the Board to assist the Company with strategic planning.
Costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2007 were approximately $209,000 and were charged to general and administrative

expense. Amounts owed by the Company at December 31, 2007 on behalf of the agreement were $9,700.
NOTE 8 — INCOME TAXES

The components of the net deferred tax asset are as follows:

Depreciation and aMOITIZATION ... e e ieeesesresretessieste s e sresrabesssssrsasassesssresensasrsssssrsesatastaseessresrasissne
COMMISSION IICOIMIE ....etiiittitriiieste e et e sttt e et emeesme e esesereeaseannesmssoessaesansenseeseeasesamsssnsenssmseasasseeseesnnesnseaesannan

PTEDAIAS ... e s et e e et ar e n e et e s R b b e R e e en e aR e Re e e e ganeae
Net 0perating 1088 CarTY OIWALUS. ...ccvii ettt ettt eae b et e e et et e esstese st e e tenteneabensenabaries

Valuation allowance

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following:

December 31,

2007 2006
166,604 § 22242
(462,079)  (266,310)
753,407 155,263
(13,428) 20,099
4254013 1,769,489
4,698,607 1,700,783
(4.698,607) _ (639,063)
— § 1,061,720

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Current income tax expense: )
FOURTAL. ...ttt ettt b ettt ettt e e e s e s e seereeseee e e ean e nnnrans $ — $ — % —
AL ettt ettt et n et et e et be et et en s e ebebeas et et es s e ebeehe b eabnee s et e reetesbereseanans — — —
Deferred income tax expense {(benefit):
FQURTAL ... vveoeeveeeeeeee e eeee e eree e s oo s eees e e seseeseeeesees e e e s s e e et eeessees e e eeeereeee s s eese e seeeenne 823,703 (232,091)  (588,120)
101 v 1 £SO O OO SRRSO PSSRSO 238.017 (72,137 (165.880)

1,061,720 (304,228) (754.000)
Total income tax expense (BeMefit) ..o e $ 1,061,720 §_(304,228) $§_(754,000)

A reconciliation of the Company’s federal statutory tax rate to its effective rate is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2007
Income fax at federal SLALUIONY TAIE ..iiiiiiie e et b et se e eneas {34.0%
Increase (decrease) in tax resulting from:
State taxes, net of federal benefit ... (6.3)%
Permanent differ@IiCes ......ooi oo e s 0.7%
Change in valuation allaWanCe........oov i e e ens 53.6%
14.0%
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2006
(31.0)%

(6.3)%
2.1%
_0.0%

(38.1)%

2005
34.0%

6.3%
2.3%
(270.0¥%
(227.4¥%




As of December 31, 2007, the Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $10,800,00¢ which begin to expire
in 2022, and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $10,300,000, which begin to expire in 2008. A valuation allowance is
established, if it is more likely than not, that all or a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes''(“"SFAS No. 109").
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined at the end of each period based on the future tax consequences that can be attributed to
net operating loss carryforwards, as well as differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of the existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax expense or credits are based on changes in the asset or liability from
period to period. Valuation allowances are provided if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent :upon the generation of future
taxable income. In determining the valuation allowance, the Company considers past performance expected future taxable income, and
qualitative factors which are considered to be appropriate in estimating future taxable income. The Co'mpany s forecast of expected
future taxable income is for future periods that can be reasonably estimated. The Company has hlstorlcally utilized a three year
forecasting window to determine its expected future taxable income. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had cumulative net
income for the three years then ended and the expected future taxable income anticipated from 2007 through 2009 was deemed
adequate on a present value basis to benefit the majority of our deferred tax assets (primarily net operatintg loss carryforwards). During
2007, the Company accelerated its growth in excess of its initial expectations to address the strategic initiatives outlined at the time of
our initial public offering. The Company grew from 20 emplovees as of December 31, 2006 to 63 as of, December 31, 2007, acquired
one of its main competitors in the retail energy market, and developed its wholesale and environmental commodity product lines. These
initiatives increased the Company’s loss for 2007 resulting in a three-year cumulative loss as of December 31, 2007 and increased its
near term operating expenses. A three-year cumulative loss is significant negative evidence in considering whether the deferred tax assets are
realizable and gencrally precludes relying on projections of future taxable income to support the recovery of deferred tax assets. While the
Company expects its future income will be adequate on a present value basis to benefit substantially all of its current deferred tax
assets, the recent three-year cumulative loss is given more weight than projected future income when determining the need for a
valuation. Therefore, during the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance a:gainst its deferred tax assets of
approximately $4.1 million, and maintains a cumulative valuation allowance of approximately $4.7 million at December 31, 2007.

The amount of the net deferred tax asset considered realizable at December 31,2007 could be reduced or increased in the near term if
estimates of future taxable imcome during the carryforward period change.

The Company has reviewed the tax positions taken, or to be taken, in its tax returns for all tax years culrrenlly open to examination by
the taxing authorities in accordance with the recognition and measurement standards of FIN 48, At December 31, 2007, there are no
expected material, aggregate tax effect of differences between tax return positions and the benefi ts recognized in the financial
statements.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, certain substantial changes in the Company’s ownership may have limited or may limit
in the future the amount of net operating loss carryforwards which could be utilized annually to offset future|taxable income and income tax
liabilities. The amount of any annual limitation is determined based upon the Company’s value prior to an ownership change.

NOTE ¢ — COMMITMENTS
Leases

The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases that expire through May 2011 and are collateralized by the related equipment.

The Company has accounted for these leases using an incremental borrowing rate of 8%. The Company maintains operating leases for office

space in seven locations in the United States, paid in installments due the beginning of each month and that expire through July 2012. Future
aggregate minimum payments under capital and operating leases as of December 31, 2007 were as follows:
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Capital  Operating

Leases Leases
200B... et cer e v ert e s et b e ee £t Sh £kt h e s R e e Ea e haeR oA E LSRR bbb T T $ 47,223 § 304,537
70§ OO OO OO OO OUR OO 44,745 295,381
20T ettt e b et e R eSS Sa a8 S R4 eA e R e e R e e es e e eA SRR e s b e r e 3,192 152,275
40 O U OO OO O OO OO OSSO USROS 798 135,630
40 O OO O O OO O OO OUR SOOI — 42973
Total future MIiniMUM EASE PAYIMENLS ...ttt e s e e e b e s E s s st s b s s r s s e b ees 95958 § 930,796
Less: AMOUNLS TEPTESENUILE ILEIESL....cueivririeeeneeie e s r e e tae st e sesc st e es e et m st e es s es b ed bbb b aas b er e ses (8.112)
Present value of future minimum l€ase PAYIMENLS ..ot es e s st s s ettt eneens 87,846
B85, CUITEIL PIOITION. ... eetitii et eeeee et eaeete e et e et e seeteeaese s cesesses e e e es e eee e ehem e et e bb o3 s od s S e b e b e e AL s b2 b e aR b e b e r st et e ra s b s ne b nntns 41.624
Capital leasc obligation, net of CUMTENT POILION ..o e s e b b s § 46,222

The accompanying statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 includes $242,813, $118,902 and
$78,800 of rent expense, respectively.

Service Agreement

In 2007, the Company entered into a service agreement with an unrelated party for a hosting environment and dedicated server for the
Company’s online energy procurement software. The terms of the agreement requires quarterly and monthly payments amounting (o
approximately $8,400 per quarter. The agreement expires in May 2008.

NOTE 10 — ACQUISITION

On June 1, 2007, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of EnergyGateway for $4,9531,758 in cash and 5,375,000 common
shares of World Energy plus the assumption of certain liabilities. The shares were valued at approximately $6,536,000 based on the average
closing price on the Torento Stock Exchange for the two days before and after the announcement date of $1.22 per share. Approximately
2.175 million of the shares that the Company delivered to EnergyGateway in connection with this transaction {or the proceeds upon any sale
thereof) are being held in escrow for 18 months following the closing of the sale to secure various indemnification obligations of
EnergyGateway and its members. EnergyGateway, located near Columbus, Ohio, was an online broker of natural gas and electricity for
commercial and industrial consumers in the United States. It provided its customers with professional energy purchasing services, including
access 10 its proprietary ‘post and bid’ online procurement system called EGate.

The total purchase price was $11,440,358, net of cash acquired, and includes related acquisition costs of $229,500, plus the assumption of
certain liabilities of $138,128. The EnergyGateway operations have been included within our consolidated results from June 1, 2007. The
cost of the acquisition was allocated to the assets and liabilities assumed based on estimates of their respective fair values at the date of
acquisition resulting in net assets of $8,261,657. The excess purchase price of $3,178,701 has been recorded as goodwill which is fully
deductible for tax purposes. Management is responsible for the valuation of net assets acquired and considered a number of factors, including
valuations and appraisals, when estimating the fair values and estimated useful lives of acquired assets and liabilities. During the third quarter
of 2007, the Company refined estimates recorded in the second quarter of 2007 and finalized the valuation of intangible assets through a
reduction of $660,000 in customer relationships resulting in a corresponding increase to goodwill.

The Company has allocated the purchase price for the acquisition as follows:

TNt ASS IS . . . o it $ 247,938
FIXed A850ES. . ittt ittt ettt et 18,755
L0 ot L S ST 3,092
Intangible assets
INON-COMPELE AZTEETNETIES .. ...ttt it riaia i e arasiraeeensiasrians 680,000
Customer relationships. ... e 4,740,000
BT (0] 03T @ 00 0) 116 ¢ [od SO PPN 500,000
Supplier Agreements. .......ooii i 380,000
Developed technology. ... 1,830,000
GoOdWillL e e 3,178,701
Current liabilities. ... {138,128)
Net assets acquired $ 11,440,358
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The intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their weighted av

erage lives as follows: non-

compete agreements — | to 5 years; customer relationships — 10 vyears; customer contracts — 3 years; supplier agreements — 5 years; and

developed technology — 5 years.

The following unaudited pro forma information assumes that the acquisition of EnergyGateway assets had bee
2006:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006
REVEIIUES. .. ..ot $ 10,461,780 $ 8,617,678
Net loss available to common stockholders................. S (9,448,352) $ (1,719,847)
Loss per share:

Net loss available to common

stockholders per share — basic....................cos $ (0.12) $ (0.03)

Net loss available to common

stockholders per share —diluted............................ ) (0.12) s (0.03)

Weighted average number of common

and common equivalent shares

outstanding — basic............co o 82.017,220 50,951,477
Weighted average number of common

and common equivalent shares

outstanding — diluted. ... 82,017,220 50,951,477

The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future as
EnergyGateway.

NOTE 11 — 401(k) PLAN

n completed as of January 1,

a result of the acquisition of

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company established the World Energy Solutions, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the *401(k) Plan™) under
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code covering all eligible employees. Empleyees of the Company may participate in the 401{k) Plan
after reaching the age of 21. The Company may make discretionary matching contributions as determined from time to time. Employee

contributions vest immediately, while Company matching contributions begin to vest after one year service and

year over the next five years. To date, the Company has not made any discretionary contributions to the 401(k) Plan.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Asset Purchase Agreement by and among World Energy Solutions, Inc., EnergyGateway, LLC and the Members of
EnergyGateway, LLC dated May 23, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our report on Form 8-K filed May 24,
2007 (File No. 333-136528)).

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 o our
Registration Statement of Form S-1{File No. 333-136528)).

Form of Amended and Restated By-laws of World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to our Registration Statement of
Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Specimen Certificate evidencing shares of common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration Statement of
Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

2003 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-
136528)).

2006 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File Ne. 333-
136528)).

Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated November 7, 2005, between World Energy and Massachusetts Capital Resource
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).
Subordinated Note due 2013, dated November 7, 2005 (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Registration Statement of
Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Voting Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated November 7, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Registration
Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrants {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File
No. 333-136528)).

Solicitation/Contract/Order for Commercial ltems, dated September 28, 2005, between U.S. General Services Administration and
World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)}.
Agreement to Provide Software and Support for a Reverse Energy Auction Procurement to the Maryland Department of General
Services, dated March 16, 2006, by and between World Energy and the State of Maryland (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Contract, dated January 9, 2006, by and between Montgomery County, Maryland and World Energy (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Emergency Purchase/Interim Agreement, dated March 28, 2006, by and between the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of
General Services and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File

No. 333-136528)).

Professional Services Agreement, dated June 1, 2005, between World Energy and Science Applications International Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Escrow Agreement (incorporated by reference 10 Exhibit 10.12 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).
Offer letter agreement, dated October 1, 2003, between World Energy and Philip V. Adams (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.13 to our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Offer letter agreement, dated April 5, 2006, between World Energy and James Parslow (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to
our Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Lease, dated September 8, 2004, between Sovereign Bank and World Encrgy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to our
Registration Statement of Form S-1{File No. 333-136528)).

Lease, dated June 21, 2006, between Roosevelt Land, LP and World Energy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to our
Registration Statement of Form S-1(File No. 333-136528)).

Form of Warrant being issued to Underwriters (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to our Registration Statement of Form S-
1{File No. 333-136528)).

Form of Registration Rights Agreement with Underwriters (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to our Registration Statement
of Form S-1{File No. 333-136528)).

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of UHY LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 135d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule | 5d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule [5d-14(b) under the Securitics Exchange Act.

* Filed herewith
+ Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement
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